
Mark Saccoccio 
Town Clerk 

  01525 631920
   info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

Council Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 1HD

Friday, 23 February 2018

To:  Members of the Grounds & Environmental Committee (Councillors S Jones, 
R Berry, A Brandham, S Cursons, A Dodwell, T Morris, C Perham and B Spurr)
(Copies to all Town Councillors for information)

NOTICE OF MEETING

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Grounds & Environmental 
Committee to be held on Monday, 5 March 2018 commencing at 7.30 pm in the 
Council Chamber, The White House, Hockliffe Street, 
Leighton Buzzard, Bedfordshire, LU7 1HD. 

M Saccoccio 
Town Clerk

AGENDA

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of 
the Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the 
meeting. Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to 
the Town Clerk.

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

(i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in 
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s 
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it. 
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on 
the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item 
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by the 
Council (see Dispensation Procedure). 

3.  QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC 

To receive questions and statements from members of the public in respect 
of any item of business included in the agenda, as provided for in Standing 
Order No.s 1(f) and 1(h).

4.  MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 8)

THIS MEETING MAY 
BE RECORDED *

Public Document Pack

mailto:info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
http://www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk/


GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITTEE Monday, 5 March 2018

To receive and approve as a correct record the minutes of the Grounds & 
Environmental Committee meeting held on 4 December 2017.

5.  ASTRAL PARK (Pages 9 - 14)

(a) To receive a general update report regarding the Astral Park Sports 
and Community Centre and to consider any recommendation/s 
contained therein (to follow).

(b) To receive a verbal update regarding the Astral Park Wedding Fayre 
which was held on Sunday 25th February 2018.

6.  COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORKPLAN (Pages 15 - 20)

(a) To receive and consider the Committee work plan for 2017-2018 
(attached) and to consider future objectives to inform future budget 
setting.

(b) To receive and consider a draft Committee work plan for 2018-2019 
(attached).

7.  BUDGET (Pages 21 - 28)

To receive a nine-month budget monitoring report and the Grounds and 
Environmental Services Earmarked Reserves for the period April-December 
2017 (attached).

8.  FLAGPOLE (Pages 29 - 30)

To receive a report to seek Member endorsement to purchase and install a 
new flagpole for Linslade Recreation Ground subject to their successful 
Green Flag Award (attached).

9.  LINSLADE RECREATION GROUND 

To receive a verbal update on the progress of the Linslade Recreation 
improvements.

10.  SPORTS AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVELOPMENT PLAN (Pages 31 - 
112)

To receive a report to seek Member endorsement of the Leighton-Linslade 
Sports and Physical Activity Development Plan (to follow).

11.  EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 

The Committee may consider it appropriate to consider the following 



GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL COMMITTEE Monday, 5 March 2018

resolution should they consider that any discussion would be prejudicial to 
the public interests: that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) 
Act 1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature of 
the business about to be transacted which involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information. The public and press to withdraw from the meeting 
during consideration of detailed discussion regarding Waste management 
and recycling and Historic Cemetery charges.

12.  WASTE MANAGEMENT AND RECYCLING (Pages 113 - 114)

13.  HISTORIC CEMETERY CHARGES (Pages 115 - 118)

* Phones and other equipment may be used to film, audio record, tweet or blog from this meeting by an individual Council member, 
officer or member of the public.  No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming unless the meeting resolves to go into 
exempt session.  The use of images or recordings arising from this is not within the Council’s control.



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                                                                      Page 27

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

GROUNDS AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

MONDAY 4 DECEMBER 2017 AT 1930 HOURS

Present: Councillors: R Berry
A Brandham 
S Cursons  (joined meeting at 1950 hours)
C Perham   (joined meeting at 1947 hours)
B Spurr
A Dodwell
S Jones – in the Chair
T Morris
C Palmer

Also in attendance:  I Haynes (Head of Grounds & Environmental 
Services)
M Saccoccio, Town Clerk
M Penton (Senior Centre Co-ordinator, Astral 
Park) – part meeting
M Jahn (Committee Officer)

                    Members of the public: 3
Members of the press:  0

076GE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

No apologies for absence had been received.
 

077/GE DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members were asked to declare any interests, including the nature of those 
interests, which they had in any of the items under consideration at this 
meeting.

Councillor C Palmer declared a personal interest as a member of the Friends 
of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom and declared an interest in item 7 Allotment 
Strategy.

078/GE QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC

No questions were raised by the members of public present. Their purpose 
was interest in the Allotment Strategy and the car park security at Pages Park 
respectively. .

079/GE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

The Committee received the draft minutes of the Grounds and Environmental 
Services Committee meeting held on 11 September  2017. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 4 December 2017     
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 28

Minute reference 064/GE Pages Park Pavilion Refurbishment Budget: it was 
noted that the process was on-going and would come back to Committee at 
the next meeting in March 2018.

Minute reference 068/GE Tree Planting: the tree planting had originally been 
scheduled for the 13 November but due to access problems would be 
rescheduled to begin on Wednesday 6 December.

Minute reference 069/GE Proactive Hedgelaying Project: it was noted that 
the project would now commence in Autumn 2018 enabling a consultation 
with residents to take place.

Minute reference 070/GE Adam’s Bottom Park: it was noted that the path had 
now been completed and the orange netting would be removed in 7 – 10 days 
time.

RESOLVED that the mintues of the meeting of the Grounds and 
Environmental Services Committee held on 11 September 2017 be 
approved as a correct record and were signed accordingly.

080/GE ASTRAL PARK SPORTS AND COMMUNITY CENTRE

The Committee received an update report in respect of the Astral Park Sports 
and Community Centre, including a general overview, attendance, activities 
and events held at the Centre.

As part of the business development plan for the Centre, a Wedding Fayre 
would be held on 25 February 2018.  Local companies had been contacted 
inviting them to sign up for a stall on the day and the Wedding Fayre brochure 
would be launched in early January 2018.  

The Senior Centre Co-Ordinator stated that the most difficult time of day to 
fill for events and clubs was between 1200 and 1500 hours and he was 
looking at the 50+ age group to promote activities such as a lunch time club 
or tea dances. 

RESOLVED to:

(i) note the report 
(ii) endorse that income generated through stall sales at the 

Wedding Fayre be used for publicity and sundry items associated 
with the event on a cost neutral basis.

081/GE COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORK PLAN 

The Committee received the work plan for the municipal year 2017-2018 for 
consideration. It was noted that many objectives had been completed or 
were well underway and that the remainder would be carried forward into a 
new plan.  The Committee was asked to consider any further potential 
projects or objectives for possible inclusion in a future work plan.

Page 2



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 4 December 2017     
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 29

Discussions took place on the format of the Work Plan and that it would be 
reviewed by the Head of Grounds and Environmental Services before the 
next meeting.

082/GE ALLOTMENT STRATEGY

The Committee received a report regarding development of the Town 
Council’s first allotment strategy which set out the direction of travel for 
allotments for the next 10 years.

Resolved to –

i.  note the report.
ii. endorse the development of the Town Council’s first allotment 

strategy which will set out the direction of travel for allotments 
for the next 10 years.

083/GE REVIEW OF ANGLIA IN BLOOM

The Committee received a report reviewing Anglia in Bloom and a 
recommendation to formally thank the volunteers for their hard work and the 
high achievements in the Anglia in Bloom awards. 

RESOLVED to:

(i) note the report
(ii) formally thank all the local volunteers involved in this year’s 

Leighton-Linslade in Bloom
(iii) formally write to all the members of the Grounds and 

Environmental Team thanking them for this year’s 
achievements.

084/GE BUDGET MONITORING APRIL-SEPTEMBER 2017

The Committee received a six month budget monitoring report for April-
September 2017.  It was noted on budget line 230/4570 that the budget would 
be carried forward to fund any larger repairs that would be necessary to 
equipment in this area.  

A question was raised about the Skate Park, budget line 211/4102, and that 
no maintenance had been carried out on this area.  The Head of Grounds 
and Environmental Services said the Skate Park was a project which would 
be looked at in the near future with the possible aim of redeveloping or 
relocating the facility.

RESOLVED to note the report.

085/GE DRAFT BUDGET 2018/2019

The Committee received a draft budget report for 2018/2019 and the 
Committee was advised the budget would remain the same with a 1% 
increase for salaries and increments. 

Page 3



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 4 December 2017     
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 30

RECOMMENDED to the Policy and Finance Committee to approve the 
proposed budget for Grounds and Environmental Services (including 
Astral Park) for the financial year 2018-2019. 

086/GE VANDYKE ROAD PLAYING FIELDS

The Committee received a report requesting endorsement to demolish the 
former changing rooms at Vandyke Road Playing Fields and to allocate a 
maximum of £7000 from (9024/950) to fund the project.  The pavilion building 
had not been used for years and was no longer fit for purpose.

RESOLVED to endorse the report.

RECOMMENDED to Council to endorse the demolition of the former 
changing rooms at Vandyke Road Playing Fields.

087/GE LINSLADE RECREATION GROUND

The Committee received a report regarding the proposed improvements to 
Linslade Recreation Ground. The Committee discussed the repair of the 
boundary walls and that quotes would be received and considered. 
Improvements would also be made to the benches, bins, play area and 
restoration of the Henry Finch Memorial fountain, with possible renaming of 
the park.

RESOLVED to:

(i) note the report
(ii) to endorse the implementation of the Linslade Recreation Ground 

improvements and that £50,000 held in Earmarked reserves 
9052/950 to fund elements of this project be released for this 
purpose.

088/GE PLAY AREA IMPROVEMENT AND SAFER SURFACING REPLACEMENT 
PROGRAMMES UPDATE

The Committee received an update on the wider play area improvement and 
safer surfacing replacement programmes.  The five-year programme was 
progressing and a public consultation would be considered for the smaller 
‘pocket’ parks and how they could be upgraded.

RESOLVED to:

(i) note the report
(ii) endorse the updated wider play area improvement and safer 

surfacing replacement programmes.

089/GE EQUIPMENT FOR GROUNDS AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES

Page 4



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 4 December 2017     
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 31

The Committee received a report recommending the purchase of new 
equipment for use by the Grounds and Environmental Service team.  The 
majority of the equipment would be “like for like”, with a new addition of the 
Dennis FT 610 that had interchangeable cassettes, which would enable one 
device to be used for more than one purpose.

RESOLVED to:

(i) note the report.
(ii) endorse the purchase of 2 x Husqvarna LB 553 S Pedestrian 

Mulch Mowers for £537.50. Total £1,075.00.
(iii) endorse the purchase of 1 x Dennis FT 610 – D100/H for £3,889.12 

with the following cassettes 5 Bladed Cutting Cassette D106 for 
£967.92, 10 bladed cutting cassette D107 for £981.00;  2mm 
Tungsten Tipped scarifier cassette D109TT for £1,059,48; 
Tungsten Tipped Verti Cutter Cassette to fit D110TT for: 
£1,137.96; Multi Dense Brush Cassette D111/M for £954.84; Sorrel 
Roller Cassette D114 for: £963.56 total £9,953.88.

(iv) endorse the purchase of 2 x Dimple Line Marker with pneumatic 
tyres for £636.00, total £1,272.00

(v) endorse the purchase of 1 x plant trailer for £2,950.00 – total of all 
£15,250.88 to be met from 950/9000 with available funds of 
£38,478.

090/GE PARSON’S CLOSE RECREATION GROUND – BANDSTAND

The Committee received a report seeking endorsement to replace the 
Bandstand’s balustrades and undertake a full redecoration.

The current balustrades were wooden and from a condition survey completed 
in 2015 it was confirmed they would need attention and should be replaced 
with metal.  It was anticipated that works would be completed by Summer 
2018.

RESOLVED to endorse and approve a maximum cost of £7,500 be 
allocated from the budget heading 950 – Grounds & Environments – 
9024 – Parks/Tree Works; to replace the Bandstand’s balustrades and 
undertake a full redecoration.

091/GE GROUNDS AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES ASSETS CONDITION 
SURVEY

The Committee received a report in respect of a condition survey to 
commission an internal and external inspection of the bowls pavillion based 
within the Mentmore Park.

Concerns were raised on whether a condition survey would be sufficient and 
whether a more detailed full survey would be needed.  Funds were available 
up to £15,605 with the condition survey costing £960.00 and it was suggested 
as funds were available, then a more comprehensive survey could be 
undertaken.

Page 5



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 4 December 2017     
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 32

RESOLVED to endorse to undertake a condition survey of the building 
assets associated with Mentmore Park bowls pavillion.  To be funded 
from budget heading 950 – Grounds and Environmental – 9105 – 
Pavillions.

092/GE ENHANCED PAGES FIELD CAR PARK SECURITY

The Committee received a report about enhancing the security at the Pages 
Field Car Park due to concerns from residents.  

RESOLVED to endorse and approve a maximum spend of up to £2,000 
from budget heading 950 – Grounds and Environmental – 9024 – Parks 
to undertake improvements to the current height barrier.

093/GE WATER SUPPLY (WATER FITTINGS0 REGULATIONS 1999)

The Committee received a report to seek retrospective endorsement for 
improvements required under two recent Water Supply (Water Fittings) 
Regulations 1999 improvement notices.

RESOLVED to endorse retrospective approval of £3,443.52 allocated 
from budget heading 120/4100 £386.56 and 111/4100 £3,056.96 for the 
works undertaken in acordance with the improvements required under 
two recent Water Supply (Water Fittings) Regulations 1999 
improvement notices.

094/GE EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act   
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature 
of the business about to be transacted which involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information.  The public and press to withdraw 
from the meeting during consideration of detailed discussion 
regarding:

(i)   cemetery update
(ii) refreshment concessions  for Parson’s Close Recreation Ground
(iii) Mentmore Pavillion Update 

095/GE     CEMETERY UPDATE

The Committee received an update on the Cemetery Service project 
detailing the valuation of the land for existing use and also the market value 
of the land with residential planning persmission.  If new burial land could not 
be secured, alternatives would be need to be considered by the Committee.

RESOLVED to:

Page 6



Grounds & Environmental Services Committee 4 December 2017     
____________________________________________________________________

                                                                                                                                  Page 33

(i) note the report
(ii) endorse that all possible alternatives be reviewed by Officers if new 
burial land cannot be secured with a detailed SWOT analysis of 
alternatives to be presented to committee before the end of 2018.

096/GE   REFRESHMENT CONCESSIONS FOR PARSON’S CLOSE RECREATION            
GROUND

The Committee received a report to seek endorsement to extend the    
standalone concession for the right to sell ice-cream and minerals for the 2018 
season. 

  RESOLVED to endorse extension of previously tendered concession  for  
2018 season.

097/GE   MENTMORE PAVILLION UPDATE

The Committee received an update on Mentmore Road Under Fives Pre-
school hire of the Mentmore Pavilliion.

RESOLVED to –

(i) note the report
(ii) support the proposal of a 50% reduction in rent for the January to 

April term 2018.

The meeting closed at 2155 hours.

I HEREBY CONFIRM THAT THE FOREGOING IS A TRUE AND ACCURATE 
RECORD OF THE MEETING HELD ON 4 DECEMBER 2017.

Chair          5 MARCH 2018 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Grounds and Environmental Services Committee                Agenda Item No:5.

Date: 6th March 2018

Title: Astral Park General Update

Purpose of the Report: To provide an update on the latest centre 
activity 

Contact Officer: Ian Haynes – Head of Grounds and 
Environmental Services 

Mark Penton - Senior Centre Coordinator

Corporate Aim/s
Objective 7: Develop a business plan in respect of 
income generation through the Astral Park centre.

Implications:
Financial √ 10% flat increase in all centre 

hire fees and charges and 
establish a minimum 70%gross 
profit margin on all catering 

Human Resources
Operational/Service 
delivery
Procedural/Legal
Risk/Health and Safety

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1 To note the report.

1.2 To Endorse a 10% flat increase in all centre hire fees and charges.

1.3 To Endorse a 70%gross profit margin on all catering 

1.4 To Revoke minute reference 581/LC Catering at Astral Park 

2. OVERVIEW SINCE THE PREVIOUS UPDATE

2.1 Leighton-Linslade Town Council provides a number of services that it levies a 
charge for. These charges are regularly reviewed and adhere to the Council’s 
Standing Orders and Financial Regulations.

2.2 Fees & Charges are reviewed on an annual basis to ensure Council;

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



o Has the ability to meet corporate and service objectives;
o Has a way to manage demand through either encouraging or 

discouraging the use of services and/or the patterns of use of services;
o Provides clarity regarding why different charges are set for different user 

groups e.g. through the use of discounts/concessions;
o Has an agreed set of fees and charges that will make an important and 

significant contribution to achieving the Council’s financial objectives.

2.3 Fees and charges represent an important source of income to the Council. 
There are a number of potential conflicts between raising income by increasing 
charges and promoting the use of the facilities Council provides particularly by 
vulnerable groups on a low income.

2.4 The appropriate fee structure will, therefore, depend on the overall intention of 
that service area. The Council is responsible for managing public funds in a 
proper manner and should set its charges at appropriate levels. 

2.5 By not setting relevant, suitable and sustainable fees and charges there is a 
possibility that the burden of funding some service areas will fall on the Council 
Tax payer. The Council is empowered by relevant legislation to make charges 
for its services.

2.6 The operating costs have increased 16.77% since 2015/2016 which is an 
average of 4.19% per annum. Income is growing at a rate of 2.5% per annum.

2.9 Therefore, it is Officers Recommendation that the previously endorsed increase 
of 4.9%:- Retail Price Index (September 2017) plus 1% (and rounded up to the 
nearest 50p before VAT) is no longer sufficient in order to meet the burden of 
increasing costs.  

2.10 It is Officer's opinion that a 10% flat increase in all centre hire fees and charges 
will ensure that the subsidy required in the running of the facility does not further 
increase. 

3. CUSTOMER EVALUATION 

3.1 Over the past 9 months the Astral Park team have been handing out evaluation 
card to hirers for feedback on there one bookings. In total there were 8 questions 
and, in most questions, customers were asked to rate their experience from 
1(being the lowest mark) to 5 (being the highest mark).

3.2 This feedback has been collected from numerous different users and groups 
these include:

o Private functions – wedding parties, football presentations, christenings and 
family gatherings

o Children’s parties
o IT courses
o Meetings – CBC, NHS, Networking groups

Page 10



o Half term activities – cookery classes, soft play sessions and  film club

3.3 The results are listed below question by question;

Question 1
How did you hear 
about Astral Park?

Quantity
Social Media 20
Recommendation 23
Website 5
Guest 22
Advert 2
  
Question 2
How welcoming was your 
experience at Astral Park?

Quantity
1 0
2 0
3 2
4 9
5 60

Question 3
How suitable are 
the opening times?

Quantity
1 0
2 0
3 0
4 18
5 54

Question 4
How do you rate 
the facilities?

Quantity
1 0
2 0
3 1
4 14
5 56

Page 11



Question 5
How likely are you to 
recommend Astral Park?

Quantity
1 0
2 0
3 0
4 8
5 64

Question 6
How do you rate the quality of 
the food?

Quantity
1 0
2 0
3 1
4 25
5 41

Question 7
How do you rate the value of 
the food?

Quantity
1 0
2 0
3 2
4 21
5 41

Question 8
How do you rate the quality of 
service?

Quantity
1 0
2 0
3 0
4 9
5 58

Page 12



3.4 Overall these are admirable results that are reassuring for the Astral Park team. 
As it is believed that this demonstrated the hard work and commitment to 
providing good customer service.

4. CATERING AT ASTRAL PARK 

4.1 At its meeting held on Monday 13th April 2015, the Leisure and Community 
Committee received a report regarding the provision of catering at the Astral Park 
Sports and Community Centre. In order to protect the food hygiene rating and 
reputation of the Centre, it was proposed that all catering for events held at the 
Astral Park Centre be catered by the in-house team only.  Enquirers wishing to 
self-cater for events would continue to have the option of using other Town 
Council facilities at Mentmore Pavilion and Pages Pavilion. 

4.2 The Committee agreed that any formal venue would not accept hirers bringing in 
their own food and drink and that the hygiene rating and reputation should be 
preserved. 

4.3 A query was raised regarding celebration cakes; it was agreed that these would 
be excluded from the ruling to give hirers greater flexibility.

4.4 This was resolved under minute reference 581/LC. Since then the in-house 
catering team has gone through a number of changes, resulting in no formally 
trained catering staff being employed by the centre.

4.5 Whilst it is still the intention of Officers to offer in-house catering this will be 
delivered mainly by externally contracted staff, with a sector recognised minimum 
of a 70%gross profit margin to include the externally contracted staff costs. It is 
believed that the centre needs the flexibility to allow self-catering parties. 

5. CONCLUSION

5.1 First opened in April 2014 the centre has generally been well received by its 
users, even if the growth year on year is slightly disappointing. The previously 
endorsed development plan will be refreshed and reinvigorated for our next 
committee meeting in June, all future committee reports will be more business 
minded concentrating on the following standing headings 

o TOTAL INCOME
o TOTAL EXPENDITURE 
o SUBSIDY
o INCOME COMPASSION YEAR-ON-YEAR 
o YEAR END BUDGET AGAINST CURRENT YEAR END FORECAST 
o RISK(S)
o MARKETING 
o FOOTBALL
o HOLIDAY PLAYSCHEMES 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item No. 6 (a)

Page 1 of 4

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2017-2018 (INCORPORATING OBJECTIVES 2015-2018)

Grounds & Environmental Services Strategic Objectives for 2015-2018 (from Town Council Three Year Plan)

Objective 
ref.no. (3 
Yr Plan)

Objective Timescale Comments

7 Develop a business plan in respect of income 
generation through the Astral Park Sports & 
Community Centre.

COMPLETED Endorsed by Committee under minute reference 
034/GE

9 Undertake a full review of the Grounds & 
Environmental Department and implement changes as 
required.

In progress

10 Investigate the possibility of providing a Town Ranger 
service.

In progress Equipment purchase agreed

11 Develop proposals to secure contract work for other 
organisations in and near the town. 

COMPLETED Embedded within future budgets.

12 Computerisation of cemetery records. In progress All new records are being up-loaded prior to each 
interment

13 Develop a ten-year maintenance programme for all 
buildings & assets.

COMPLETED  Endorsed by Committee under minute reference 
087/LC proposed in-house maintenance 
programme schedules as outlined in the report, for 
Mentmore Pavilion and Pages Park Pavilion, using 
the existing budget 111/4100 (Pavilions Repairs & 
Maintenance, annual funding of £6250)

16 Secure new freehold depot premises for LLTC vehicles 
and equipment.

In progress New leased depot secured.

18 &
35

18. Adopt a Sports and Physical Activity Development 
Plan.

35. Establish the town as a sports town with a fit and 
healthy population that can use locally available, high 
quality sport and physical activity opportunities. 

In progress 18 In progress - Draft Sport and Physical Activity 
Development Plan created and out for consultation

35 In progress - Leighton Buzzard junior parkrun 
is held in Parson’s Close Recreation Ground every 
Sunday at 9:00am 

26 As part of the Vandyke Cemetery extension, to develop 
an additional complementary range of burial services to 

In progress Self-funded Mausoleum built within permitted 
development limits.

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 6



Agenda Item No. 6 (a)

Page 2 of 4

meet the needs of the community. 
27 Implement a range of enhancements to the cemetery 

service, following recommendations from the Cemetery 
Task and Finish Group.

28 Provision of outdoor gym facilities in the town (primarily 
through external funding).

COMPLETED The provision of an outdoor gym facility in Pages 
Park was installed in May 2017. 

The second new installation will be included within 
the Linslade Recreation Ground improvement 
project due to be installed by May 2018.

A review of the Astral Park equipment is being 
undertaken.

29 Achieve Green Flag status for three parks and 
undertake an annual Parks & Open Spaces satisfaction 
survey.

COMPLETED  Parson’s Close Recreation Ground was awarded 
the Town Council’s first award in 2015, quickly 
followed by Pages Park & Vandyke Road 
Cemetery by 2017. 

It is our intension to go for four awards in 2018 
with Linslade Recreation Ground being our latest 
submission.

30 Refurbishment of public conveniences at Parson’s 
Close Recreation Ground.

COMPLETED This project was completed in May 2016.

31 Develop “Friends” groups for various parks, cemeteries 
and open spaces.

On-going Endorsed by Committee under minute reference 
566/LC the Friends group agreement sets out 
what groups could expect from the Town Council 
as well as what the Town Council would expect of 
local groups. 

To date despite a number of promotions no friends 
of groups have been created.  

32 Develop and implement individual Park Management 
Plans, to include outcomes of Access Assessments on 
all parks and open spaces. 

COMPLETED  Parson’s Close Recreation Ground – 2015

Pages Park – 2016

Vandyke Road Cemetery - 2016

Linslade Recreation Ground - 2018

P
age 16



Agenda Item No. 6 (a)

Page 3 of 4

33 & 39 33. Support the “In Bloom” committee in the creation 
and implementation of a three-year improvement 
programme. 

39. Continue to build on the success of “In Bloom” by 
encouraging community involvement, developing links 
with local businesses and encouraging more 
involvement from local schools. 

COMPLETED

On-going

33: Endorsed by Committee under minute 
reference 071/LC to recommend to the Policy and 
Finance Committee that a budget of £10,000 be 
allocated to Leighton-Linslade in Bloom for the 
next three financial years. 

To be reviewed in 2018-2019.

36 Secure external funding where possible, to develop 
existing and new sporting and leisure facilities. 

37 Provision of additional adult and junior football pitches 
at Astral Park.

COMPLETED The both junior and adult pitch configuration is at 
maximum layout. 

38 Support Linslade Tennis Club with its planned 
expansion at Mentmore Park.

On-going Planning permission granted by Central 
Bedfordshire Council in January 2018. 

The Club is now looking a potential funding 
streams.

WORK PLAN 2017-2018

Meeting Date Regular Updates Work Plan 2016-2017
22 June 2017 Astral Park Cemetery update

Review of Pages Park Pavilion deferred to September

Review a range of enhancements to the cemetery service

“Friends” groups for various parks, cemeteries and open spaces update

Tree charter

RoSPA Play Areas Inspection Report

P
age 17



Agenda Item No. 6 (a)

Page 4 of 4

11 September 2017 3-month budget 
monitoring

Astral Park

Review of fees and charges for pavilion hire, use of parks and cemetery fees from 1 April 
2018.

Green Flag Award recommendations review

RoSPA Play Areas Inspection Report Carried forward to May

Review of Pages Park Pavilion
4 December 2017 6-month budget 

monitoring

Astral Park

Report from judges of the 2017 Anglia in Bloom competition.

2018/2019 Budget.

New Equipment 

5 March 2017 9-month budget 
monitoring

Astral Park

Waste management and recycling update

Consider draft work plan for 2018/2019

P
age 18



Agenda Item No. 6 (b)

Page 1 of 2

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
GROUNDS & ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2018-2019 

WORK PLAN 2018-2019

Meeting Date Regular Updates Work Plan 2018-2019
4th June 2018 

Astral Park Review a range of enhancements to the cemetery service

“Friends” groups for various parks, cemeteries and open spaces update

RoSPA Play Areas Inspection Report

10th September 2018
Presentation 

3-month budget 
monitoring

Astral Park

Review of fees and charges for pavilion hire, use of parks and cemetery fees from 1 April 
2019.

Review of Green Flag Award recommendations

Review of the play area improvement and safer surfacing programmes

Review of the Tree Management Policy 

3rd December 2018 6-month budget 
monitoring

Astral Park

Report from judges of the 2018 Anglia in Bloom competition.

Review of Leighton-Linslade in Bloom funding 

2019/2020 Budget.

New Equipment 
4th March 2019

Presentation 

9-month budget 

Waste management and recycling update

Review of South Bedfordshire Friends of the Earth Service Level Agreement 

P
age 19



Agenda Item No. 6 (b)

Page 2 of 2

monitoring

Astral Park
Review of the underwriting of the Annual Fireworks Display 

Review of the Cemeteries Rules and Regulations 

Consider draft work plan for 2019/2020

P
age 20



22/02/2018
 Leighton-Linslade Town Council


11:10
 Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 22/02/2018
 Page No 1


Month No : 9
 Cost Centre Report


Actual 
 Actual Year 
 Current 
  Variance 
 Committed 
 Funds 
 % of 


Current Mth
 To Date
 Annual Bud
 Annual Total
 Expenditure
 Available
 Budget


950
 Grounds & Environmental


9000
 Plant & Vehicle Replacement
 989
 989
 38,478
 37,489
 37,489
 2.6 %


9007
 Cemetery
 0
 10,342
 29,781
 19,439
 7,560
 11,879
 60.1 %


9024
 Parks/Tree Works
 0
 16,645
 44,024
 27,379
 8,487
 18,893
 57.1 %


9043
 Leighton-Linslade in Bloom
 0
 0
 7,552
 7,552
 7,552
 0.0 %


9046
 Budget Contingency
 0
 0
 4,387
 4,387
 4,387
 0.0 %


9052
 Linslade Rec Improvements
 0
 0
 50,000
 50,000
 35,522
 14,478
 71.0 %


9104
 Ouzel Valley Maintenance
 0
 0
 5,564
 5,564
 5,564
 0.0 %


9105
 Pavilions
 0
 0
 15,605
 15,605
 15,605
 0.0 %


9106
 Allotments
 0
 0
 4,944
 4,944
 4,944
 0.0 %


9107
 Sandhills Equip Maintenance
 0
 0
 51,137
 51,137
 9,950
 41,187
 19.5 %


9108
 Pratts Pit Maintenance
 0
 0
 51,136
 51,136
 51,136
 0.0 %


9110
 The Beach/Splash and Play
 0
 0
 8,021
 8,021
 8,021
 0.0 %


Grounds & Environmental :- Expenditure
 989
 61,519
 221,135
 28.8 %
27,976
 310,629
 282,653


Net Expenditure over Income
 989
 27,976
 310,629
 282,653


Page 21

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



22/02/2018
 Leighton-Linslade Town Council


10:48
 Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 22/02/2018
 Page No 1


Month No : 9
 Committee Report


Actual 
 Actual Year 
 Current 
  Variance 
 Committed 
 Funds 
 % of 


Current Mth
 To Date
 Annual Bud
 Annual Total
 Expenditure
 Available
 Budget


Grounds & Environmental


110
 Depot


4100
 Repairs & Maintenance
 0
 508
 1,550
 1,042
 1,042
 32.8 %


4131
 Energy - Electricity
 204
 1,080
 1,200
 120
 120
 90.0 %


4138
 Fire Extinguishers
 0
 0
 180
 180
 180
 0.0 %


4145
 Rates
 583
 5,241
 7,005
 1,764
 1,764
 74.8 %


4146
 Rent
 5,000
 20,900
 20,000
 -900
 -900
 104.5 %


4149
 Building Insurance
 0
 975
 1,200
 225
 225
 81.2 %


Depot :- Expenditure
 5,787
 0
 2,431
 92.2 %
28,704
 31,135
 2,431


Net Expenditure over Income
 5,787
 28,704
 31,135
 2,431


111
 Pavilions


4100
 Repairs & Maintenance
 165
 5,888
 6,250
 362
 338
 24
 99.6 %


4130
 Security
 210
 2,310
 3,750
 1,440
 1,440
 61.6 %


4131
 Energy - Electricity
 283
 3,416
 3,150
 -266
 -266
 108.4 %


4132
 Energy - Gas
 142
 809
 1,200
 391
 391
 67.4 %


4135
 Water
 30
 306
 900
 594
 594
 34.0 %


4145
 Rates
 136
 1,223
 1,735
 512
 512
 70.5 %


Pavilions :- Expenditure
 967
 338
 2,696
 84.1 %
13,951
 16,985
 3,034


1000
 Rent Receivable
 661
 15,022
 20,000
 -4,978
 75.1 %


Pavilions :- Income
 661
 75.1 %
15,022
 20,000
 -4,978


Net Expenditure over Income
 305
 -1,071
 -3,015
 -1,944


115
 Astral Park Sports & Community


4000
 Salaries
 10,021
 73,671
 101,890
 28,219
 28,219
 72.3 %


4005
 Staff Training
 0
 70
 500
 430
 430
 14.0 %


4008
 Staff Travel
 0
 7
 100
 94
 94
 6.5 %


4009
 Protective Clothing
 0
 356
 500
 144
 144
 71.3 %


4100
 Repairs & Maintenance
 224
 6,067
 7,000
 933
 721
 212
 97.0 %


4110
 Grounds Maintenance
 0
 500
 500
 0
 0
 100.0 %


4130
 Security
 0
 0
 1,000
 1,000
 1,000
 0.0 %


4131
 Energy - Electricity
 0
 3,838
 8,100
 4,262
 4,262
 47.4 %


4132
 Energy - Gas
 0
 2,069
 7,000
 4,931
 4,931
 29.6 %


4135
 Water
 9
 -350
 1,000
 1,350
 1,350
 -35.0 %


4145
 Rates
 583
 5,241
 7,005
 1,764
 1,764
 74.8 %


4150
 Cleaning Materials
 10
 580
 1,000
 420
 420
 58.0 %


4300
 Equipment - purchase
 137
 1,434
 2,139
 705
 563
 142
 93.4 %


Continued on Page No 2

Page 23



22/02/2018
 Leighton-Linslade Town Council


10:48
 Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 22/02/2018
 Page No 2


Month No : 9
 Committee Report


Actual 
 Actual Year 
 Current 
  Variance 
 Committed 
 Funds 
 % of 


Current Mth
 To Date
 Annual Bud
 Annual Total
 Expenditure
 Available
 Budget


4309
 IT Support
 0
 6
 300
 294
 23
 272
 9.5 %


4320
 Telephones
 128
 1,153
 2,500
 1,347
 1,347
 46.1 %


4327
 Publicity
 0
 552
 2,036
 1,484
 813
 672
 67.0 %


4384
 Professional Fees
 185
 291
 800
 509
 509
 36.4 %


4400
 CCTV
 0
 1,500
 6,210
 4,710
 4,710
 24.2 %


4426
 Refuse
 221
 2,742
 3,000
 258
 258
 91.4 %


Astral Park Sports & Community :- Expenditure
 11,518
 2,119
 50,735
 66.7 %
99,726
 152,580
 52,854


1000
 Rent Receivable
 0
 15,856
 45,000
 -29,144
 35.2 %


1010
 Poppy Room - 1/4 Hall
 94
 2,534
 0
 2,534
 0.0 %


1020
 Campion Room - 1/4 Hall
 342
 1,722
 0
 1,722
 0.0 %


1030
 Willow Room - 1/2 Hall
 613
 3,042
 0
 3,042
 0.0 %


1040
 Astral Park - Whole Hall
 725
 3,493
 0
 3,493
 0.0 %


1057
 Activities - Income
 0
 151
 1,500
 -1,349
 10.0 %


1075
 Refreshments-Income
 271
 271
 0
 271
 0.0 %


1700
 Miscellaneous Income
 0
 2,415
 0
 2,415
 0.0 %


Astral Park Sports & Community :- Income
 2,045
 63.4 %
29,484
 46,500
 -17,016


Net Expenditure over Income
 9,473
 70,242
 106,080
 35,838


116
 Astral Park bar


4000
 Salaries
 0
 0
 1,500
 1,500
 1,500
 0.0 %


Astral Park bar :- Expenditure
 0
 0
 1,500
 0.0 %
0
 1,500
 1,500


3000
 Purchases
 2
 2,425
 9,000
 6,575
 6,575
 26.9 %


Astral Park bar :- Direct Expenditure
 2
 0
 6,575
 26.9 %
2,425
 9,000
 6,575


1000
 Rent Receivable
 42
 42
 0
 42
 0.0 %


1201
 Sales
 201
 4,868
 25,000
 -20,132
 19.5 %


Astral Park bar :- Income
 243
 19.6 %
4,910
 25,000
 -20,090


Net Expenditure over Income
 -241
 -2,485
 -14,500
 -12,015


117
 Astral Park Catering


4000
 Salaries
 309
 4,358
 5,000
 642
 642
 87.2 %


Astral Park Catering :- Expenditure
 309
 0
 642
 87.2 %
4,358
 5,000
 642


3000
 Purchases
 618
 7,293
 11,000
 3,707
 262
 3,445
 68.7 %


3020
 Functions
 0
 -53
 0
 53
 53
 0.0 %


Astral Park Catering :- Direct Expenditure
 618
 262
 3,499
 68.2 %
7,239
 11,000
 3,761


1075
 Refreshments-Income
 0
 10
 0
 10
 0.0 %


1201
 Sales
 784
 12,503
 25,000
 -12,497
 50.0 %


Astral Park Catering :- Income
 784
 50.1 %
12,513
 25,000
 -12,487


Net Expenditure over Income
 142
 -916
 -9,000
 -8,084


Continued on Page No 3

Page 24



22/02/2018
 Leighton-Linslade Town Council


10:48
 Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 22/02/2018
 Page No 3


Month No : 9
 Committee Report


Actual 
 Actual Year 
 Current 
  Variance 
 Committed 
 Funds 
 % of 


Current Mth
 To Date
 Annual Bud
 Annual Total
 Expenditure
 Available
 Budget


120
 Parsons Close & Bandstand


4100
 Repairs & Maintenance
 0
 5,179
 8,500
 3,321
 42
 3,279
 61.4 %


4131
 Energy - Electricity
 240
 2,007
 2,600
 593
 593
 77.2 %


4135
 Water
 0
 1,733
 2,000
 267
 267
 86.7 %


4570
 The Beach/Splash and Play
 0
 96
 15,000
 14,904
 14,904
 0.6 %


Parsons Close & Bandstand :- Expenditure
 240
 42
 19,043
 32.2 %
9,015
 28,100
 19,085


1000
 Rent Receivable
 0
 0
 500
 -500
 0.0 %


1075
 Refreshments-Income
 0
 16,000
 20,000
 -4,000
 80.0 %


Parsons Close & Bandstand :- Income
 0
 78.0 %
16,000
 20,500
 -4,500


Net Expenditure over Income
 240
 -6,985
 7,600
 14,585


132
 Sports


4107
 Sports Materials
 0
 6,231
 7,000
 769
 769
 89.0 %


4109
 Sports Equipment
 0
 0
 500
 500
 500
 0.0 %


Sports :- Expenditure
 0
 0
 1,269
 83.1 %
6,231
 7,500
 1,269


1120
 Sports Income
 1,253
 7,996
 10,000
 -2,004
 80.0 %


Sports :- Income
 1,253
 80.0 %
7,996
 10,000
 -2,004


Net Expenditure over Income
 -1,253
 -1,765
 -2,500
 -735


200
 Allotments


4100
 Repairs & Maintenance
 0
 453
 1,000
 547
 105
 442
 55.8 %


4110
 Grounds Maintenance
 0
 985
 1,000
 15
 15
 98.5 %


4135
 Water
 11
 117
 400
 283
 283
 29.3 %


Allotments :- Expenditure
 11
 105
 740
 69.2 %
1,555
 2,400
 845


1130
 Allotments Income
 743
 2,391
 3,000
 -610
 79.7 %


Allotments :- Income
 743
 79.7 %
2,391
 3,000
 -610


Net Expenditure over Income
 -733
 -836
 -600
 236


211
 Play Areas


4100
 Repairs & Maintenance
 0
 1,101
 6,350
 5,249
 416
 4,833
 23.9 %


4102
 Repairs & Maint - Skate Park
 0
 0
 5,000
 5,000
 5,000
 0.0 %


4303
 Equipment - inspection
 0
 1,438
 3,000
 1,563
 1,563
 47.9 %


Play Areas :- Expenditure
 0
 416
 11,396
 20.6 %
2,538
 14,350
 11,812


1152
 Section 106 Receipts
 0
 93,020
 0
 93,020
 0.0 %


Play Areas :- Income
 0
 93,020
 0
 93,020


Net Expenditure over Income
 0
 -90,482
 14,350
 104,832


Continued on Page No 4

Page 25



22/02/2018
 Leighton-Linslade Town Council


10:48
 Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 22/02/2018
 Page No 4


Month No : 9
 Committee Report


Actual 
 Actual Year 
 Current 
  Variance 
 Committed 
 Funds 
 % of 


Current Mth
 To Date
 Annual Bud
 Annual Total
 Expenditure
 Available
 Budget


220
 Leighton-Linslade in Bloom


4014
 Projects
 0
 989
 1,000
 11
 11
 0
 100.0 %


4100
 Repairs & Maintenance
 0
 12,447
 4,947
 -7,500
 -7,500
 251.6 %


4110
 Grounds Maintenance
 0
 3,004
 3,500
 496
 496
 0
 100.0 %


4384
 Professional Fees
 0
 870
 1,000
 130
 130
 0
 100.0 %


4413
 Leighton-Linslade in Bloom
 0
 846
 1,000
 154
 154
 0
 100.0 %


Leighton-Linslade in Bloom :- Expenditure
 0
 791
 -7,500
 165.5 %
18,156
 11,447
 -6,709


1151
 Grants Received
 0
 7,500
 0
 7,500
 0.0 %


1420
 Leighton-Linslade in Bloom Inc
 70
 2,455
 0
 2,455
 0.0 %


Leighton-Linslade in Bloom :- Income
 70
 9,955
 0
 9,955


Net Expenditure over Income
 -70
 8,201
 11,447
 3,246


230
 Grounds and Environmental Serv


4000
 Salaries
 22,567
 200,916
 275,000
 74,084
 74,084
 73.1 %


4005
 Staff Training
 199
 1,839
 5,585
 3,746
 400
 3,346
 40.1 %


4006
 Staff Expenses/Allowances
 0
 26
 50
 24
 24
 52.1 %


4008
 Staff Travel
 189
 1,402
 1,600
 198
 198
 87.6 %


4009
 Protective Clothing
 230
 784
 3,600
 2,816
 294
 2,522
 29.9 %


4105
 Bus Shelters
 0
 4,500
 6,000
 1,500
 1,500
 75.0 %


4110
 Grounds Maintenance
 0
 63,334
 64,800
 1,466
 978
 489
 99.2 %


4113
 Ouzel Valley Meadow Management
 317
 1,818
 10,300
 8,482
 1,990
 6,492
 37.0 %


4135
 Water
 18
 162
 500
 338
 338
 32.4 %


4150
 Cleaning Materials
 0
 297
 750
 453
 453
 39.6 %


4200
 Vehicle Running Costs
 1,464
 20,796
 21,400
 604
 176
 428
 98.0 %


4202
 Repair & Maint - Machinery
 0
 6,023
 9,720
 3,697
 54
 3,643
 62.5 %


4233
 Machinery Servicing
 263
 1,581
 7,750
 6,169
 3,964
 2,205
 71.6 %


4301
 Equipment - maintenance
 0
 159
 910
 751
 751
 17.4 %


4305
 Small Tools and spares
 283
 1,564
 2,500
 936
 560
 376
 85.0 %


4411
 Hanging Baskets/Planters
 0
 8,500
 8,500
 0
 0
 100.0 %


4414
 Plants
 0
 2,033
 5,500
 3,467
 3,467
 0
 100.0 %


4415
 Tree Surgery/Planting
 3,967
 6,138
 12,350
 6,212
 6,212
 49.7 %


4420
 Dog Bins
 0
 933
 1,000
 67
 67
 93.3 %


4426
 Refuse
 925
 11,253
 13,000
 1,747
 1,747
 86.6 %


4503
 Benches and Bins
 0
 8,131
 15,000
 6,869
 1,602
 5,267
 64.9 %


4507
 Signage
 0
 204
 3,000
 2,796
 31
 2,765
 7.8 %


4750
 Vehicle & Plant Renewal Fund
 0
 0
 11,000
 11,000
 11,000
 0.0 %


4919
 Notice Boards
 0
 0
 1,000
 1,000
 1,000
 0.0 %


Grounds and Environmental Serv :- Expenditure
 30,422
 13,517
 124,906
 74.0 %
342,392
 480,815
 138,423


1000
 Rent Receivable
 77
 363
 0
 363
 0.0 %


Continued on Page No 5

Page 26



22/02/2018
 Leighton-Linslade Town Council


10:48
 Detailed Income & Expenditure by Budget Heading 22/02/2018
 Page No 5


Month No : 9
 Committee Report


Actual 
 Actual Year 
 Current 
  Variance 
 Committed 
 Funds 
 % of 


Current Mth
 To Date
 Annual Bud
 Annual Total
 Expenditure
 Available
 Budget


1041
 Maintenance
 0
 2,600
 0
 2,600
 0.0 %


1700
 Miscellaneous Income
 3
 21
 500
 -479
 4.2 %


Grounds and Environmental Serv :- Income
 80
 596.8 %
2,984
 500
 2,484


Net Expenditure over Income
 30,342
 339,408
 480,315
 140,907


401
 Cemetery


4000
 Salaries
 6,743
 64,951
 79,350
 14,399
 14,399
 81.9 %


4100
 Repairs & Maintenance
 0
 2,798
 5,000
 2,202
 1,166
 1,035
 79.3 %


4131
 Energy - Electricity
 0
 400
 1,400
 1,000
 1,000
 28.6 %


4132
 Energy - Gas
 0
 226
 900
 674
 674
 25.1 %


4135
 Water
 8
 72
 200
 128
 128
 36.0 %


4145
 Rates
 308
 2,772
 3,688
 916
 916
 75.2 %


4300
 Equipment - purchase
 0
 313
 1,000
 687
 283
 404
 59.6 %


4320
 Telephones
 56
 167
 300
 133
 133
 55.8 %


4426
 Refuse
 930
 4,053
 4,000
 -53
 -53
 101.3 %


Cemetery :- Expenditure
 8,045
 1,449
 18,636
 80.6 %
75,753
 95,838
 20,085


1100
 Cemetery Income
 3,042
 42,331
 47,000
 -4,669
 90.1 %


1101
 Cemetery Income-Memorials
 1,731
 12,942
 12,000
 942
 107.9 %


1700
 Miscellaneous Income
 0
 5,373
 0
 5,373
 0.0 %


Cemetery :- Income
 4,772
 102.8 %
60,647
 59,000
 1,647


Net Expenditure over Income
 3,273
 15,106
 36,838
 21,732


402
 Mausoleum


4308
 Mausoleum
 15,202
 89,228
 0
 -89,228
 440
 -89,668
 0.0 %


Mausoleum :- Expenditure
 15,202
 440
 -89,668
89,228
 0
 -89,228


1106
 Mausoleum Income
 14,700
 143,142
 0
 143,142
 0.0 %


Mausoleum :- Income
 14,700
 143,142
 0
 143,142


Net Expenditure over Income
 502
 -53,914
 0
 53,914


Grounds & Environmental :- Expenditure
 73,119
 701,271
 867,650
 166,379
 19,479
 146,899
 83.1 %


25,352
 398,064
 209,500
 188,564
Income
 190.0 %


Net Expenditure over Income
 47,767
 303,207
 658,150
 354,943


Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Grounds and Environmental Services Committee              Agenda Item No: 8

Date: 5th March 2018

Title: Flagpole

Purpose of the Report: To seek Member endorsement to 
purchase and install a flagpole for 
Linslade Recreation Ground subject to a 
successful Green Flag Award.

Contact Officer: Ian Haynes – Head of Grounds and 
Environmental Services

Corporate Aim/s Corporate Objectives 2015-2018 

#30 - Achieve Green Flag Award status for three 
parks.

Implications:
Financial √ £2,000
Human Resources
Operational/Service 
delivery
Procedural/Legal
Risk/Health and Safety

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1 Should Members be minded that:-

1.2 A maximum cost of up to £2,000.00 be allocated from budget heading 230 
– Grounds and Environmental Services - 4110 - Grounds Maintenance for 
the purchase and installation of one flagpole should a successful Green 
Flag outcome be achieved.  

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 In accordance with Member aspirations, the purpose of this report is to provide 
Members with the justification to purchase and install a new flagpole within 
Linslade Recreation Ground subject to the Town Council successfully achieving 
a Green Flag Award.

2.2 The Green Flag Award is awarded in recognition of achieving a standard of 
excellence in maintenance, management, community involvement, 
accessibility, conservation and sustainability.

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



2.3 Once a park or public open space has been awarded its Green Flag Award, the 
recipient has the right to fly the Green Flag Award flag.

2.4 The justification for installing a flagpole is to celebrate the delivery of a local 
park recognised for meeting national standards. 

3. CONCLUSION

3.1 Committee endorsement will allow the said purchase should the Town Council 
be successful in achieving national recognition.  

Page 30



Grounds and Environmental Services Committee          Agenda Item No: 10

Date: 5th March 2018

Title: Sports & Activity Development Plan

Purpose of the Report: To provide Members with an update into 
the Sports & Activity Development Plan.

Contact Officer: Ian Haynes – Head of Grounds and 
Environmental Services

Corporate Objective/s AIM 3 – To provide great public open spaces, 
varied opportunities for sport and leisure and to 
exceed expectations in delivering cemetery and 
allotment services.

Objectives;

18. Adopt a Sports and Physical Activity Development Plan.

35. Establish the town as a sports town with a fit and healthy 
population that can use locally available, high quality sport 
and physical activity opportunities.

Implications:
Financial
Human Resources
Operational/Service 
delivery
Procedural/Legal
Risk/Health and Safety

1. RECOMMENDATION/S

Should members be minded, the proposals are to:

1.1 To note the report.

1.2 To Endorse and Adopt the Sports & Activity Development Plan and the 
Action Plan set out in the supporting appendices 

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 The Town Council has sought the creation of a Sport and Physical Activity 
development plan so that it can try and help adopt a holistic approach to the 
provision of sport and physical activity across its geographical area.

Page 31

Agenda Item 10



 

2.2 The plan seeks to assess current club and activity provision, the facilities that 
support these activities, and estimate future facility needs and requirements to 
ensure that good quality, sustainable demand-led facilities and activities remain 
available to its residents.

2.3 The scope of the plan is to help comprised a review of existing and projected 
facility stock, a detailed overview of sporting provision available through the 
sporting club network, together with an overview of non-club-based 
opportunities available through the Leisure Centre, Community Centres and the 
Parks and Open Spaces across the Town. It also looked at the support and 
resources available through national and local sporting agencies and the 
opportunities to for possible partnership working to try and secure a future 
inward investment to help satisfy the demand of an increasing and ageing 
population.

2.4 Significantly the plan includes a number of potential partnership actions which, 
if jointly implemented, will positively impact upon the Town’s vision to ‘improve 
what we have, to try and create new facilities and work in partnership to ensure 
that we have excellent quality and sustainable sport and physical activity 
opportunities for the town.

2.5 The Leighton-Linslade Sport and Physical Activity Development Plan sets out 
the possible actions that could be undertake in order to invoke the vision 
presented below:

2.6 In creating this document, the following list of actions and processes have 
guided the creation of the action plan;

o Review current sport provision in Leighton-Linslade

o Provide a Plan that is considered fit for purpose by potential 
funders in securing valuable funding to develop new and 
existing facilities.

Sport & Physical Activity Opportunities – from the beginner’s first steps 
through to competitive games; for all ages and abilities; Leighton-Linslade will 
be a place to take part in sport and physical activity for fitness, competition and 
community fun.

Investing our time, using our influence; the Council will try and improve what we 
have, by looking at how we can create new facilities and work in partnership to 
ensure we have excellent quality and sustainable sport and physical activity 
opportunities in Leighton-Linslade 

Page 32



 
o Provide information to assist with the existing provision of 

outdoor sports space and its improvement. 

o Provide an up to date audit of facilities available for outdoor 
sports, to assist the public and sporting groups to access 
sporting facilities. 

o Consider implications of corporate documents including the 
Central Bedfordshire Council Leisure Strategy 

o Inform sport and physical activity development opportunities 
and initiatives.

o Consider the importance of the public health agenda and the 
role that sport and physical activity has to play in this area. 

o Encourage and facilitate community use of outdoor facilities 
on education sites. 

o Help inform responses to planning policy, particularly the 
standard for outdoor pitch and play provision in association 
with existing and new development. 

o Inform policies to protect sites for outdoor sport and physical 
activity from inappropriate development, particularly those 
identified as being of particular importance for the delivery of 
outdoor sport and physical activity in Leighton -Linslade.

o Consider who the key strategic and delivery partners are and 
how they can help inform and deliver this development plan. 

2.7 The action plan has been prepared in tabular format and forms appendix A. The 
areas covered within the action plan includes and identifies the following:

o New facility provision.
o Upgrading and refurbishing existing facility provision.
o Making the most of;

o Existing facility provision.
o Enhancing access.
o The Cycling Parish.

o Strategic and delivery partnerships.
o Possible Community Asset Transfers.
o Programme awareness and availability.

3. CONCLUSION

Page 33



 

3.1 Whilst it is fair to say that as a Town Council on our own we have little 
opportunity to deliver all of the Sports & Activity Development Plan actions plan 
points.  We can invest our Officers time, using our influence; and the Council 
will try and improve what we have, by looking at how we can create new facilities 
and work in partnership to ensure we have excellent quality and sustainable 
sport and physical activity opportunities in Leighton-Linslade. 

3.2 Whether this is working directly with Central Bedfordshire Council or indeed 
using the development plan to help developers identify the Town’s actual need 
for improved sports and recreation in the coming years. 

3.3 The development plan sets out some good starting blocks to build going forward 
and will be regularly reviewed and update to ensure it develops at the same 
rate that the Town does. Even if the development plan only helps to inform 
responses to planning policy, particularly the standard for outdoor pitches and 
play provision in association with existing and new developments, this alone 
should be considered a great success.

Page 34



 SPORT AND PHYICAL ACTIVITY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2015 - 2018

Sport and Physical Activity 
Development Plan

2018-2020

“A community to be proud of”Page 35



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 1 -
Page 36



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 2 -
Page 37



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 3 -

Contents 

Executive Summary 

1.0 Introduction 

2.0 Leighton-Linslade Population Context 

3.0 Sport and Physical Activity in Leighton-Linslade

4.0 Establishing Supportive Mechanisms to Support Local 
Priorities 

5.0 Meeting Wider Priorities 

6.0 Leighton-Linslade Town Council Leisure Strategy Survey 

7.0 Developing Sport and Physical Activity Provision in 
Leighton-Linslade 

8.0 Glossary of terms and definitions 

Page 38



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 4 -

Executive Summary

The Town Council has sought the creation of a Sport and Physical Activity development plan so that it can try 
and help adopt a holistic approach to the provision of sport and physical activity across its geographical area.

The plan seeks to assess current club and activity provision, the facilities that support these activities, and 
estimate future facility needs and requirements to ensure that good quality, sustainable demand-led facilities 
and activities remain available to its residents.

The scope of the plan is to help comprised a review of existing and projected facility stock, a detailed overview 
of sporting provision available through the sporting club network, together with an overview of non-club-based 
opportunities available through the Leisure Centre, Community Centres and the Parks and Open Spaces across 
the Town. It also looked at the support and resources available through national and local sporting agencies 
and the opportunities to for possible partnership working to try and secure a future inward investment to help 
satisfy the demand of an increasing and ageing population.

Significantly the plan includes a number of potential partnership actions which, if jointly implemented, will 
positively impact upon the Town’s vision to ‘improve what we have, to try and create new facilities and work 
in partnership to ensure that we have excellent quality and sustainable sport and physical activity opportunities 
for the town.

Page 39



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 5 -

1.0 Introduction

The Leighton-Linslade Sport and Physical Activity Development Plan sets out the possible actions that could be 
undertake in order to invoke the vision presented below:

In creating this document, the following list of actions and processes have guided the creation of the action 
plan;

 Review current sport provision in Leighton-Linslade
 Provide a Plan that is considered fit for purpose by potential funders in securing valuable funding to 

develop new and existing facilities. 
 Provide information to assist with the existing provision of outdoor sports space and its improvement. 
 Provide an up to date audit of facilities available for outdoor sports, to assist the public and sporting 

groups to access sporting facilities. 
 Consider implications of corporate documents including the Central Bedfordshire Council Leisure 

Strategy 
 Inform sport and physical activity development opportunities and initiatives.
 Consider the importance of the public health agenda and the role that sport and physical activity has 

to play in this area. 
 Encourage and facilitate community use of outdoor facilities on education sites. 
 Help inform responses to planning policy, particularly the standard for outdoor pitch and play provision 

in association with existing and new development. 
 Inform policies to protect sites for outdoor sport and physical activity from inappropriate development, 

particularly those identified as being of particular importance for the delivery of outdoor sport and 
physical activity in Leighton -Linslade.

 Consider who the key strategic and delivery partners are and how they can help inform and deliver this 
development plan. 

This strategy has been aligned where appropriate to those sports and strategy processes recognised by Sport 
England (SE) and other key sporting governing bodies and funding agencies. The main sports and physical 
activities being:

 Football 
 Cricket 

Sport & Physical Activity Opportunities – from the beginner’s first steps through to 
competitive games; for all ages and abilities; Leighton-Linslade will be a place to take 
part in sport and physical activity for fitness, competition and community fun.

Investing our time, using our influence; the Council will try and improve what we 
have, by looking at how we can create new facilities and work in partnership to 
ensure we have excellent quality and sustainable sport and physical activity 
opportunities in Leighton-Linslade 

Page 40



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 6 -

 Rugby Union 
 Hockey 
 Bowling 
 Tennis 
 Open water sports, e.g. canoeing
 Swimming 
 Running 
 Cycling
 Athletics
 Netball
 Badminton
 Various fitness programmes, aerobics, Pilates, yoga, circuits and dance

2.0 Leighton-Linslade Population Context 

Population & Projected Growth - The parish of Leighton-Linslade has an estimated population of just under 
40,000 however this figure is set to grow substantially in the coming years. Between 2001 and 2011 the 
population grew by 14% to 37,340 residents (Office for National Statistics, 2011 census). Office of National 
Statistics projections indicate that the population of Central Bedfordshire will increase by approximately 28% 
over the 25 year period from 2012-2037. 

Central Bedfordshire Council’s Customer & Community Insight projected new housing completions trajectory 
by ward (May 2015). This work suggests that there will be 1061 new builds in Leighton-Linslade between 2015 
and 2023 and 2500 new builds on land to the East of Leighton Buzzard, urban extension, between 2015 and 
2028 These statistics suggest that the population of Leighton-Linslade and the immediate surroundings will 
grow to at least 50,000 during this period.   

The age structure of the population as per the Office for National Statistics, 2011 census is as follows: 

0-15 Leighton-Linslade – 19%; Central Bedfordshire – 20%; England – 19%

16-64 Leighton-Linslade – 66%; Central Bedfordshire – 65%; England – 65%

65+ Leighton-Linslade – 15%; Central Bedfordshire – 16%; England – 16%

The projected growth in population is expected to see the greatest growth in the following age bands (Office 
for National Statistics):

0-15 projected growth of 22.5%

16-35 projected growth of 15%

36-55 projected growth of 12%

56 plus projected growth of 64%

Page 41



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 7 -

Ethnicity - Ethnic groups other than White British comprise 9.5% of the local population, well below the 
national average (Office for National Statistics, 2011 Census, Ethnic Group). Minority ethnic groups traditionally 
have lower rates of involvement in physical activity, which is unlikely to reduce local levels of demand. 

It should be noted however that residents of Eastern European decent (particularly Polish) have become 
established within the Parish. 

The Parish also sits within easy travelling distance of Luton and Milton Keynes. Both towns have much higher 
ethnic populations. The Asian population in particular have shown a willingness to travel reasonable distances 
to play cricket and this is now reflected within the demand for cricket facilities within the Parish.

Health – The rate of people in the Parish who said that their health was ‘Very good’ or ‘Good’ and therefore 
self-reported is 85% compared with 85% for Central Bedfordshire and 81% for England. A similar proportion 
of Leighton-Linslade residents stated that their activities were limited a lot compared to the Central 
Bedfordshire average, at 6%. This was significantly lower than the England average at 8.3% (Office for National 
Statistics, 2011 census).

Many of the leading causes of ill health such as coronary heart disease, cancer and type two diabetes could be 
prevented if people were to play more sport and increase their overall levels of sport and physical activity. 

In July 2011 the Chief Medical Officers from England, Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales launched a joint 
report on physical activity, which included guidelines for participation across the life course. These guidelines 
provided recommendations on the levels of physical activity needed to provide population level changes in 
health. Professor Dame Sally Davies (The Chief Medical Officer for England) said that ‘if physical activity was a 
drug it would be regarded as a miracle’

The Health & Wellbeing Strategy has been written at a local authority level. The first strategy was approved in 
2013. It has been refreshed in 2015. The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Central Bedfordshire 
informed this review and helped identify areas of focus. Highlights from the review are as follows :

Average life expectancy at birth is increasing for both men and women with both statistics better than the 
national average. There is however a significant gap in life expectancy between those living in the 20% highest 
areas of deprivation compared with the least deprived. 

Many deaths below the age of 75 year are avoidable, so there is an increasing focus on reducing these, 
particularly in the most deprived areas and in vulnerable groups within the population. The biggest causes of 
death under 75 are cancer, heart disease and stroke. 

The Strategy has identified the following actions which are reliant on robust and appropriate sport and physical 
activity opportunities and supporting environments :
Improve the physical health of those with mental illness by ensuring good access to healthy lifestyle support, 
particularly to stop smoking and become more physically active. 

Ensure that residents are supported to adopt as healthy a lifestyle as possible through, amongst others, weight 
management programmes. Ensure that people are physically active whether that is through everyday 
activities, leisure services, sports and clubs or enjoying the natural environment. 

Page 42



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 8 -

Promote local social opportunities outside the home including health walks, library, leisure and educational 
services. 

Deprivation - Four of Leighton-Linslade’s 22 lower super output areas (LSOAs) are in the 50% most deprived in 
England. One of these is the 5th most deprived area in Central Bedfordshire. (Department for Communities 
and Local Government, Indices of Deprivation 2010).

The number of children living in Leighton-Linslade in income deprived households stands at 13%, compared to 
13% in Central Bedfordshire and 22% in England. (Department for Communities and Local Government, Indices 
of Deprivation 2010)

Sport England Market Segmentation - Sport England’s market segmentation has been designed to help 
understand the life stages and attitudes of different population groups –and the sporting interventions most 
likely to engage them.

The market segmentation data builds on the results of Sport England’s Active People survey; the Department 
of Culture, Media and Sport's Taking Part survey; and the Mosaic tool from Experian. It presents a picture of 
the dominant social groups in each area, and puts people’s sporting behavior in the context of complex lives.

Propensity modelling – a statistical technique that matches the probability of displaying a particular behavior 
or attitude to each demographic category – was used to link the survey data to wider population groups.

This created a tool with two key elements:

 a Sport England segment for every adult in England
 the ability to count market segment profiles for any region community, down to postcode level.

Key findings from the tool suggest the following for Leighton-Linslade:

The four most prominent market segments support continued high demand for football, rugby union, 
athletics(including running), cycling and swimming amongst the male population and 
athletics(including running), keep fit, gym and swimming amongst the female population. 

Section II – Key Findings

With population growth it is anticipated that wider determinants of health will become more pertinent as the 
demand for facilities and access to services increase. 

Sport & Physical Activity will have a significant part to play in the Social Prescription agenda and related funding 
streams are expected to be underpinned by health and wellbeing budgets. The Health & Wellbeing Strategy 
and Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Central Bedfordshire underpin this.

Competitive sport teams from neighbouring Parishes seek to engage with 
the Parish towards using and establishing facilities that can address a lack
of, or outgrown, sporting facilities elsewhere. This is particularly prevalent for cricket due to large numbers of 
Asians living nearby.

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-culture-media-sport/series/taking-part
http://www.experian.co.uk/business-strategies/mosaic-uk.html


SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 9 -

Population and market segmentation data suggests that there will continue to be strong demand for outdoor 
playing pitches, particularly for football.

Longer term growth in population suggests that while existing playing pitch facilities need to be maintained, 
particularly to meet growth within the U15 population, the significant increase in the average age of the 
population is likely to see demand increase for sports such as Bowls, Cycling, Golf and indoor activities such as 
dance, keep fit and swimming.   

The projected growth in the population may result in existing playing fields coming under threat of 
development to accommodate new housing. It should also be considered that developer contributions through 
the Community Infrastructure Levy may provide an opportunity to fund provision that will demonstrably meet 
the needs of new residents.           

Growth in demand for sporting facilities is seen as an opportunity to          
provide facilities that are seen to be significant centres for sport development by locally based sporting 
agencies and clubs. 

3.0 Sport and Physical Activity in Leighton-Linslade

Leighton-Linslade demographic information indicates that trends and percentages are comparable to those 
for Central Bedfordshire with some minor anomalies picked up from research through National Governing 
bodies data and local knowledge. (Participation rates and indices along with market segmentation data for 
Central Bedfordshire formulated by Sport England.)
 
Participation rates - Based on the current ‘Active People’ survey, overall sports participation rates in the Central 
Bedfordshire area (participating in moderate activity for 30 minutes at least once a week) have fluctuated since 
2005/6 and are currently on a par with the regional and national averages at 34.5%. However the general trend 
is upwards, suggesting that local demand for pitches and outdoor sports facilities will increase accordingly and 
only in the Central areas of the Parish are there indicators below this. 

Other participation indices - In line with regional and national trends, the other participation indices measured 
by the ‘Active People’ survey, such as sports club membership, are also falling in Leighton-Linslade. 

Market Segmentation - The Market Segmentation data suggests that demand for pitch sports is likely to be 
higher than the national average given the relatively large proportion of Leighton-Linslade residents from 
market segments which participate in football in particular but also, to a lesser extent, Rugby and Cricket.

A) Locally based Sporting & Physical Activity Opportunities

Football - For most formats of the game, football participation rates in Leighton-Linslade area are above the 
National and regional rates. A total of 94 teams draw their membership from within the Parish and its clubs, 
male, female, adult and youth. The majority of respondents to the clubs survey have increased their 
membership over the past three years. 

Cricket - A total of 12 cricket teams draw their membership from within the Parish and surrounds, utilising Club 
and Council run facilities. These range from adult, youth, Saturday and Sunday teams. Leighton Town Cricket 
Club is the largest club in the Parish and have an excellent reputation throughout Bedfordshire for providing 

Page 44



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 10 -

good quality cricket development opportunities.  They currently run  5 adult and 7 junior sides from U10 
through to U16’s and hold ECB ClubMark accreditation. Their primary site is as Bell Close however their 
development squads have recently started to use Pages Park. 

Rugby Union – The only club near is Leighton Buzzard Rugby Club. Based outside the town on Stanbridge Road. 
The facilities play host to 4 men’s teams, an academy side, 1 ladies team, mini rugby from U7-U12’s and junior 
rugby from U13’s-U17’s. There is limited scope for expansion of adult teams due to limited pitch capacity at 
the site. The junior section is however growing. 

Hockey - The only club in the Parish is Leighton Buzzard Hockey Club, based at Vandyke School which runs 4 
men’s, 5 women’s and a men’s over 40’s senior side teams. It also has a thriving junior section with a team in 
every age group from U8’s through to U16’s. 

The club hold Hockey’s Club First accreditation (the Hockey equivalent of ClubMark) 

Bowls – There are two clubs based in the Parish. Leighton Buzzard Bowls Club are based in Grovebury Road, 
has an aging membership and is seeking involvement in local sports development initiatives to attract new 
bowlers. Linslade Bowls Club is one of the largest Bowls Clubs in Bedfordshire with just over a 100 members. 
Based at the Memorial Playing Fields in Mentmore Road the club has excellent social facilities and is able to 
provide a year round offering with an indoor ‘Short mat’ Bowls offering in the close season. 

Tennis – There are two clubs based in the Parish. Leighton Buzzard Tennis Club are based at Bell Close. They 
take juniors from age 4-18 years and adults of any age and ability. Linslade Tennis Club are based at the 
memorial Playing Fields in Mentmore Road. The club have 150 adult and junior members respectively. Their 
junior section is open from age 5-18years and adults of any age and ability are welcome. Both clubs are 
registered as approved play tennis sites on the LTA website. 

Canoeing & Kayaking – There is one club, based at Cedars School, this thriving club has approx. 100 active 
members, draws its participants from a wide area within and outside of Bedfordshire and has achieved 
international standards success. A new club house and storage facility has recently been erected on site. 

The club has a thriving junior section and offers its junior membership from age 9 upwards, although members 
must be able to swim for safety reasons. It also enjoys Sport England’s ClubMark and BCU Top Gold 
accreditation. 

The club has a robust development plan in place and regularly provides initiatives to attract new and returning 
members and develop its coaching workforce. 

Athletics – There are 2 clubs based in the Parish. Leighton Buzzard Athletics Club runs a junior and senior 
section with different offerings. The junior section provides a full track and field offering for participants from 
age 9-16years. This is based at Vandyke Upper School. The adult section is for anyone aged 16 plus irrespective 
of ability and experience. Social and competitive running opportunities are provided from the clubs base at 
Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre.

Leighton Fun Runners provide running opportunities from beginners jogging through to competitive racing 
including 10K, half marathons and marathons. The club take members from age 16 upwards and are based at 
the Cricket Pavilion, Bell Close.

Page 45



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 11 -

Both clubs are affiliated to England Athletics and the Athletics Club is working towards ClubMark accreditation.

Golf – There is one club based within the Parish. Leighton Buzzard Golf Club is based at Plantation Drive on the 
North Western edge of the town. Non-members are given access to the course during the week. Access is 
restricted to members only at the weekends. 

The club carries GolfMark accreditation confirming that it has been externally accessed as providing junior and 
beginner friendly golf facilities and development opportunities. 

Cycling – There is one club based in the Parish. Leighton Buzzard Road Cycling Club delivers three led cycle 
rides each Sunday from the Bell Public House on the High Street. The club are keen to attract both juniors and 
adults from novices through to racing cyclists. The club currently has 89 active members and is keen to grow 
its membership. The club is affiliated to British Cycling. 

Swimming - There are two clubs based in the Parish. Both clubs operate out of the Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre 
pool and provide competitive swimming opportunities for members.

Leighton Buzzard Swimming Club provide a learn to swim package from age 5 and hold Swim 21 accreditation. 

Linslade Crusaders Swimming Club also provide a learn to swim package from age 5 and also hold the Swim 21 
accreditation.  

Netball- There is one club based in the Parish. Leighton Buzzard Netball Club provides opportunities for social 
and competitive play from age 10 upwards. The club has four adult teams and an U19 development squad. It 
also runs junior sides at U11,13 & 16. The club has full CAPS accreditation from England Netball which confirms 
it status as a club that looks after the future and safety of its junior members. 

The club uses facilities at both Vandyke Upper School and Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre. 

Badminton- There are four clubs within the Parish. Leighton Buzzard, Vandyke, Brooklands and Border. None 
of the clubs carry accreditation with their National Governing Body.

Page 46



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 12 -

Martial Arts – Judo – well established club with 60 plus members catering for 5-16 year olds operating out of 
Cheddington (Formerly Leighton Corinthians Judo Club).

Taekwondo – A variety of opportunities available during the week at Cedars and Vandyke Upper School and 
the Church Riverside Scout Hut for adults and juniors.

Physical Activity programmes including Keep fit, Yoga, Pilates, Aerobics and Dance – Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre 
provide a range of physical activity programmes that are considered to be affordable and readily accessible. 
The range of activities on offer includes Aerobics, Zumba, Circuits, Boxercise, Aqua, Bodypump, Yoga and 
Pilates. A number of private operators provide a similar range of activities in community halls across the parish 
and in some of the schools where community use is available. Examination of current offerings reveals the 
following activities are available:

 Zumba is available at Southall Village Community centre; Astral Park Centre and Brooklands School on 
a weekly basis.

 Keep fit is available for U3A members at Linslade Community Hall.

 Yoga for adults and ballet for school age children is available at Sandhills Community Hall.

B) Local supply 

Adult football pitches – Facilities range from privately run clubs to school and council run facilities. Feedback 
indicates that pitch quality is of good standard with adequate changing facilities.

The use of 3G pitch at Cedars School has taken some pressure off the grass pitches and the introduction of 
pitches at Astral Park (opened in 2014) will encourage growth.
 
Youth football pitches – Most youth football is played on school or public facilities, Leighton United being the 
exception having its own site. Pitches for 11 v 11 and 9 v 9 mix matches must comply with the Football 
Association’s Youth Review standards. The local quality of facilities is mixed with the issue of being 
overplay/used. Use of the 3G facilities, as per adults with multi-pitch markings, allow for multiple games on 
the Cedar’s site. The introduction of pitches at Astral Park has encourage growth.

Mini-soccer pitches - Mini-soccer pitches (7 v 7 and 5 v 5). The commentary under the youth football section 
above are relevant for mini-soccer.

Cricket pitches - There are 3 cricket pitches with community use at Leighton Buzzard Cricket Club (Bell Close), 
Pages Park and Mentmore Road (Casual bookings). There is also a cricket square at Cedars School. This is not 
currently used by the community and would require investment to bring it up to a suitable standard for adult 
competitive cricket.

Rugby pitches - There are 4 adult and additional junior rugby facilities at Leighton Buzzard Rugby Club. These 
are privately run with no community use although the club is open to new members. 

Synthetic turf pitches - There are two synthetic turf pitches with community use. Cedars School offers a full 
size Floodlit 3G “Football Turf” offering training and playing options from 5 v 5 to 11 v 11 football. Vandyke 

Page 47



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 13 -

School offers a “sand filled” floodlit astro-turf facility used for hockey practice and competitions. It is also used 
for football training and coaching sessions.

Bowls greens - There are 2 bowling greens within the Parish: Leighton Buzzard Bowls Club are based at Bell 
Close and Linslade Bowls Club are based at Mentmore Road.

Tennis courts - There are a total of 12 tennis courts in the Parish although most are located in school sites have 
additional courts that double as netball courts. LTA recognised facilities are based at Bell Close, Mentmore 
Road and Pages Park.

MUGAs (Multi-Use Games Areas) - There are a number of MUGAs in the Parish. They are primarily provided 
for informal casual play. The multi-use goal end has been well received in Mentmore Road. However, there is 
a lack of fully enclosed units.

Leisure Centres - Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre – Owned by Central Bedfordshire Council and managed by leisure 
provider 1Life this facility was significantly upgraded in 2014. The facility offers casual usage and membership 
access to formal and informal activity and classes. The venue offers 2 swimming pools, a 25 yards casual and 
competitive community pool and a smaller, purpose built pool specifically designed for disabled users and 
those recovering from life threatening health conditions. 

The facility also houses a 6 court badminton hall which in addition to Badminton is used for indoor 5 a side 
football, basketball, netball, table tennis and indoor cricket nets. The facility also houses 2 studios for cardio 
and weight based exercises and dance and squash courts. 

A full analyses of the supply of playing pitches and outdoor sports facilities in Leighton-Linslade is covered 
within the Central Bedfordshire Playing Pitch Strategy. Please see Appendix B

C) Sport & Physical Activity Provision through Central Bedfordshire Council and other locally based partners

Central Bedfordshire Council in delivering their Physical Activity Programmes, offer a range of activities 
targeting participation for all. Their Physical Activity Team work in conjunction with a variety of partners both 
nationally and locally forming part of an annual programme, including come and try sports and general 
activities. 

The programmes utilise the wide range of facilities available. These include Leisure Centres, park based MUGA, 
parks, schools and privately owned club facilities. They have bespoke programmes targeting specific groups in 
order to hit specific agendas:

i. School Holiday activities 

ii. Adult “Fit and Active”

iii. Get Back Into – This is delivered by team BEDS&LUTON and their partners to bring adults of any age 
a choice of activities to help people get fitter, healthier and back into a sport or physical activity. 
The activities are led by qualified coaches and instructors.

Page 48



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 14 -

iv. Sportivate – Sport England participation programme. This is delivered by team BEDS&LUTON and 
their partners to provide those aged 11-25 with a choice of activities over a 6/8 week programme 
to encourage participants to take part in regular sport and physical activity. The activities are led by 
qualified coaches and instructors.

v. Satellite Club Links – Sport England participation programme. This is delivered by team 
BEDS&LUTON and their partners to provide opportunities for clubs to link with upper schools and 
colleges and provide regular coached/led sessions on school/college sites, helping to build 
confidence, awareness and a relationship that will encourage participants to join the club in due 
course. As at June 2015 2 Leighton Buzzard sports clubs had set up formal links with schools in the 
town. 

vi. No Limits – Sport England Inclusive Sport participation programme. The Disability Resource Centre 
have commissioned team BEDS&LUTON to develop and deliver sustainable sporting and physical 
activity opportunities to the disability communities of Bedfordshire. The programme will run 
through to June 2017 and targets an increase in regular participation by anyone aged 14 and over 
who has a mental or physical disability. 

vii. 50+ Fit4Life – see below:

Walking Footballing - is a new exciting version of the beautiful game and is ideal for the over 50’s or players 
returning to the game following injury. Walking Football in Bedfordshire has seen great interest in the past 
year with a number of sessions available to anyone interested from across the county. As the name suggests 
in Walking Football, running is not allowed, and if a player breaks into a jog, run or sprint (with or without the 
ball!) then a free kick will be awarded to the opposition.

Walk4Health - programmes run throughout Central Bedfordshire. These individual programmes are led by 
trained volunteer Health Walk Leaders. Health walks are regular walks which are free and open to all – though 
aimed particularly at people who are presently doing little or no exercise – and usually last for about an hour.
People are encouraged to walk at their own pace, safe in the knowledge that they are walking with trained 
leaders.
 
Library Walks - the aim of these walks is to encourage everyone in Central Bedfordshire to get moving. These 
are for beginners, so they will be short walks of 30-45 minutes

Armchair Exercise - keeping fit through strength and balance classes.

Bikeability - is a national cycle training scheme. Bikeability is ‘cycling proficiency’ for the 21st century designed 
to give the next generation the skills and confidence to ride their bikes on today’s roads. Bikeability has 3 levels 
to aspire to.

Outdoor Gyms – provide open access to gym style equipment.

Exercise Referrals – means, when appropriate, General Practitioners and health professionals refer patients to 
a qualified exercise specialist. The specialist devises and delivers a 12 week tailored exercise programme for 
the patient, at a reduced price. The scheme is seen as a means of helping motivate people to become more 

Page 49



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 15 -

physically active under the guidance of qualified exercise professionals. The majority of schemes target primary 
prevention of diseases and conditions such as:

 coronary heart disease and stroke
 obesity and type II diabetes
 arthritis and common mental health problems

Section III – Key Findings

Leighton-Linslade has a healthy number of well-established and respected sports clubs providing 
opportunities for all ages and abilities across a range of different sports and physical activities. 
Many of these clubs have secured or are working towards security quality standards through their 
respective National Governing Body (typically referred to as ClubMark). The club infrastructure is 
supported by a number of well-established and equipped sporting facilities. These are supported 
by the essential use of the recently refurbished local leisure centre and facilities within the 
schools, particularly the upper schools, which provide permanent bases for a number of the sport 
clubs and physical activities. These facilities require regular investment to maintain ever more 
demanding quality standards.

The Central Bedfordshire Playing Pitch Strategy has highlighted existing and projected areas for 
new/further investment in outdoor sporting facilities. 

There are a number of private providers who deliver physical activity programmes within the 
community halls, schools and parks in the Parish. It is important that such providers are 
appropriately qualified and insured. Policies, procedures and pricing for the use of such facilities 
should not however be prohibitive as they provide a valuable additional delivery resource for the 
communities they deliver into. There are a number of opportunities available through locally 
based organisations that provide both targeted interventions and widely accessible opportunities 
for participants to participate in sport and physical activity in a friendly, sociable and non-
competitive way. It is important that appropriate links are made with providers to ensure that 
Leighton-Linslade receives an appropriate level of investment through these interventions.

Page 50



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 16 -

4.0 Establishing Supportive Mechanisms to Support Local Priorities 

Corporate Plans - The Town Council’s Three-Year Plan & Objectives would benefit from including a 
commitment to promote active lifestyles, to reduce local health inequalities and safeguard playing pitches and 
outdoor sports facilities as an integral means of facilitating this priority. This is further reflected in the Central 
Bedfordshire Council’s Leisure Strategy. 

Central Bedfordshire Council Playing Pitch Strategy – Central Bedfordshire Council adopted its Playing Pitch 
Strategy in March 2014. This document identifies a number of deficiencies in pitches and outdoor sports 
facilities, predicated upon a spatial standards-based approach. It also provides a useful preliminary assessment 
of pitch and outdoor sports facility needs and is considered by Sport England and other funders as an essential 
document to justify current and future investment needs.

Sport England has recently introduced a new assessment methodology which is anticipated to provide a more 
precise evaluation of needs in the future. 

Understanding the needs of neighbouring areas - Playing pitch assessment in the surrounding towns and 
parishes show that there are some significant shortfalls in adjoining areas particularly to the east of the Parish. 
This has been caused by migration of participants and teams due to demand exceeding the supply of suitable 
facilities.  This issue is particularly prevalent within cricket. The nearby towns of Luton and Milton Keynes have 
much larger Asian communities who are prepared to travel some distance to access good quality and 
affordable cricketing facilities. Bedfordshire & Buckinghamshire Cricket boards are aware of a number of teams 
from these areas who are prepared to travel to Leighton Buzzard and use the facilities within the Parish. The 
Playing Pitch Strategy documents for Luton and Milton Keynes together with knowledge provided by locally 
based National Governing Bodies of sport are key to understanding the prevalent issues.

Utilising the services of locally based strategic and delivery partners - There is significant expertise and 
experience within the leisure, sport and physical activity sector that can be used to help provide new and 
extend existing opportunities for sport and physical activity, improve and or provide new facilities, get more 
out of existing facilities and secure inward investment from external parties. 

Locally based organisations that are available to provide the aforementioned support include the following:

National Governing Bodies of sport. Bedfordshire based support is provided for the development of football 
and cricket with regional representation, including Bedfordshire, for canoeing & kayaking, netball, badminton, 
cycling, athletics, hockey, rugby union, tennis and bowls. These organisations can be accessed directly or 
through the County Sports Partnership. 

Page 51



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 17 -

team BEDS&LUTON The County Sports Partnership. Sport England’s local deliverer with responsibility for 
delivering Sport England’s participation initiatives across the county. They also provide wider support to clubs, 
coaches, volunteers and statutory organisations to aid the development of the sporting infrastructure 
throughout Bedfordshire.

Central Bedfordshire Council. The council is likely to play the lead role in co-ordinating the development of the 
larger, more strategic pitch and sports facility sites, in conjunction with other partners where appropriate. They 
have a Sport Development Unit that are responsible for delivering programmes, including the GP referral 
initiatives, across Central Bedfordshire. They are also responsible for Public Health and will therefore play a 
strategic role in the implementation of the social prescription agenda across Central Bedfordshire.

Local sports clubs - The local sports clubs are significant providers of pitches, outdoor and indoor sports 
facilities and will continue to do so. Some clubs may be interested in taking on delegated management 
responsibilities for pitch and changing facilities management and maintenance from the Council or parish 
council through an asset transfer arrangement. 

Schools and colleges. Many schools already provide pitches, outdoor and indoor sports facilities from which 
local communities benefit and there will be further opportunities to extend and formalise community access 
to a range of provision on school sites.

The importance of school sites to the ongoing provision of sport and physical activity in the Parish cannot be 
understated. This facility provision is incorporated within the findings of the Central Bedfordshire Playing Pitch 
Strategy and therefore informs potential current and future investment. 

Sport England provide support, advice and guidance to educational outlets wishing to open up their sporting 
facilities to the local community and keep them open for ongoing use. This is provided through their ‘Use our 
School’ tool. This tool is available via the following link on the Sport England website. 

Section IV – Key Findings

Strategic planning through national and local government provides significant guidance in a 
number of key areas covered by this plan. These documents will also be instrumental in the 
council’s ability to secure inward investment from external parties in the future. It is important 
that the findings within these documents are reflected within decision making processes in the 
future.

Recent experiences in Bedfordshire and surrounding counties have highlighted the importance 
of understanding the situation regarding the demand for sporting facilities in neighbouring 
towns and cities. This is expected to have an ongoing effect in demand for facilities in Leighton-
Linslade.

The sporting infrastructure provides a wide range of support through a number of organisations 
that have national coverage and a local presence. Consideration should be given to regular 
engagement with these key partners to ensure that opportunities for development and 
investment can be maximised. It should however be noted that national government have 
announced a consultation on a new strategy for sport and this could change the sporting  
infrastructure significantly within the next 2 years. 

 

Summary / Conclusions Box for the above

Page 52



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 18 -

5.0 Meeting Wider Priorities 

Central Government - National planning policy is supportive of undertaking local assessments of current and 
future provision for the protection of playing fields and outdoor sports facilities which provides helpful context 
for local planning policies and development in and around the Parish. This is outlined within the National 
Planning Policy Framework which came into force in March 2012 and makes several references to planning for 
sport, recreation and open space. The framework acts as guidance for local planning authorities, both in 
drawing up plans and making decisions about planning applications.

Improving health, social and cultural well-being is one of the framework’s twelve core principles. Paragraph 
171 places health considerations and by extension participation in sport, as a key consideration in the planning 
process.

Central Government have also decided to put in place a new strategy for Sport. The London 2012 games 
inspired many people to do many amazing things. Turning this inspiration into participation has been a 
challenge and the fact that nationally participation rates are now beginning to decline from their peak in 2012 
has prompted the need for a new strategy. 
The development of the strategy means joining up effectively across government and it is acknowledged that 
delivery for the Department of Health and the Department for Education are affected by this issue. The 
consultation process is now underway and it is expected that a white paper will be issued early in 2016.

Central Bedfordshire Council - The Priorities for Local Government are set out within the Council’s Leisure 
Strategy. Adopted in March 2014 the document sets out the priorities and actions for the implementation and 
delivery of Leisure across Central Bedfordshire. The Strategy covers four key areas. These include Leisure 
facilities; Recreation and Open Space; Playing Pitches and Physical activity. These are key drivers for investment 
and action across the Parish and Central Bedfordshire as a whole. 

The Leisure Strategy has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (see Central Government section) together with guidance relevant to the specific chapters as 
detailed in the methodology.

Sport England - The target to increase participation rates will drive up demand for pitches and outdoor sports 
facilities if it is achieved. The emphasis on developing and funding school-community club links will increase 
the scope for improving the dual use of education pitches and facilities, as well as more programmes of activity. 

Sport England operate on a county wide basis through team BEDS&LUTON but also work directly with each 
Local Authority Area. Although their work does not extend directly to Town Council level the strategic aims and 
objectives of Sport England will have a significant impact on the development of sport and physical activity 
within the Parish.

Sport England’s current strategy runs through to March 2017. As with Central Government it will be launching 
a new strategy for the development of sport in early 2016. 

National Governing bodies of sport - All the governing bodies of sport have similar facilities objectives; to 
improve the quality of pitches/facilities and changing provision and many are introducing new more accessible 
formats of their sports. Some of which, such as ‘Last Man Stands’ in cricket, have additional and specific pitch 

Page 53



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 19 -

requirements. Football has new versions and also from small-sided through 9 v 9 into 11 v 11 as youth and in 
to the adult game. “Walking Football” and casual “Just Play Centres” provide new opportunities

The ‘Active People’ survey – This was first commissioned by Sport England in 2005 and has been carried out 
annually ever since. The survey is the largest study of patterns of adult (people aged over 16) involvement in 
sport and physical activity ever undertaken and involved telephone interviews with a representative sample of 
between 500 and 1,000 residents of each local authority borough in the country. Seven surveys have been 
undertaken to date, which has enabled trends to be tracked over a seven year period.

The survey informs national and local government on performance against objectives in this area of work and 
informs future decision making. Although the results do not filter down beyond local authority areas the 
significance of the results are such that they merit referencing within this document. 

The following Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) are measured and the results for each are tabulated below:

 Overall participation - ‘Taking part on at least one day a week in moderate intensity sport and active 
recreation (at least four days in the last four weeks) for at least 30 minutes continuously in any one 
session’.

 Volunteering - ‘Volunteering to support sport for at least one hour a week’.

 Club membership - ‘Being a member of a club particularly so that you can participate in sport or 
recreational activity in the last four weeks’. 

 Receiving tuition - ‘Having received tuition from an instructor or coach to improve your performance 
in any sport or recreational activity in the last twelve months’. 

 Organised Competition - ‘Having taken part in any organised competition in any sport or recreational 
activity in the last twelve months’. 

 Satisfaction - ‘The percentage of adults who are very or fairly satisfied with sports provision in their 
local area’.

 Organised sport - ‘The percentage of adults who have done at least one of receiving tuition in the last 
twelve months and/or taken part in organised competition in the last twelve months and/or been a 
member of a club to play sport’

 Satisfaction with local sports provision: ‘The percentage of adults who are satisfied with local sports 
provision’.

 Participation in individual sports: ‘The percentage of adults who have participated at least once in a 
sport in the preceding four weeks’. 

Survey data does not go lower than the Central Bedfordshire Local Authority area. 

Page 54



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 20 -

6.0 Leighton-Linslade Town Council Leisure Strategy Survey 

A consultation document was circulated to clubs and individuals asking questions to help shape how the Town 
Council’s parks and green space are planned, managed and invested in, both now and in the future, taking into 
consideration the Council’s vision for Sport and Physical Activity.

 Respondents were asked to consider a list of proposed actions and whether or not they should be a priority 
issue for the Town Council. Those items where 75% or more either ‘strongly agreed’ or ‘agreed’ that the item 
should be a priority action are, together with the %, that strongly agreed or agreed, as follows:

1. To make all sections of the Town Council community feel welcome and safe – 92%

Section V – Key Findings

Central and local government together with the sporting community will strongly 
influence strategic thinking at a local level. It is important that these issues are 
understood, that strong and sustainable working relationships are built with 
representatives of these organisations to ensure that opportunities available to 
develop the sport & physical activity infrastructure across the Parish are maximised.

The Active People Survey is the primary measure of participation rates in sport and 
physical activity. As a consequence their results are taken seriously by national and 
local government together with the sporting community. Indeed they can play a part 
in determining future policy.

 
Overall sports participation rates in Central Bedfordshire have fluctuated since 2005/6 
but the general trend is upwards, suggesting that local demand for pitches and 
outdoor sports facilities will increase accordingly particularly as population numbers 
are also due to increase.

In line with regional and national trends, the other participation indices are falling, 
including involvement in organised, formal competitive activities like pitch sports.

Levels of satisfaction with local sports provision decreased over the three survey 
periods for which they were measured but in all cases were well above the regional 
and national averages. This implies that the quantity and quality of local provision is 
judged by the majority of participants as adequate to meet their needs.

The Market Segmentation data suggests that demand for the pitch sports is likely to 
be higher than the national average, given the relatively large proportion of residents 
from market segments which participate in football, but also to a lesser extent in 
cricket and rugby union.

Page 55



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 21 -

2. To protect publicly accessible green space from inappropriate development and ensure it meets the 
need of the community both now and in the future – 93%

3. To encourage and support active and healthy life-styles associated with the use of publicly accessible 
green space – 89%

4. To maintain, improve and promote sustainable transport links to/from publicly accessible green space 
– 83%

5. To protect and enhance the ecological, geological, historical and landscape value of publicly accessible 
green space – 89%

6. To Maximise community use, understanding and enjoyment of publicly accessible green space – 90%
7. To develop and manage publicly accessible green space in a sustainable way that allows them to 

maximise their resilience to and ability to adapt to the impacts of a challenging climate, and to minimise 
their impact on natural resources – 90%.

8. To maximise funding and investment opportunities associated with publicly accessible green space – 
89%

Specific questions were asked regarding Parks and other green spaces within the Parish. Key Findings are as 
follows:-

1. 87% of respondents felt it to be very important or fairly important for parishioners to have local 
parks/green spaces near to where they live.

2. The three most important management issues in relation to local parks/green spaces were as follows :

Specific questions were asked in relation to sport and leisure usage. Of those that responded 89% used leisure 
facilities in the town at least monthly. Key findings for consideration were as follows:-

1. Improvements to the local leisure centre were raised. It should be noted that Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre is 
owned and operated through the local authority and that a separate consultation process was undertaken 
in the spring of 2015.

2. Safer and more extensive cycling routes.
3. Outdoor gym and trim trails. This could be linked in with item 3

Page 56



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 22 -

7.0 Developing Sport and Physical Activity Provision in Leighton-Linslade 

This section comprises an action plan for meeting the deficiencies identified in this strategy. It examines the 
options for meeting the shortfalls, the delivery partners and an action plan that specifies what needs to be 
provided where and proposes how best this might be achieved. 

The overriding driver is to meet the “Vision” of the Town. Ensuring that things done well continue to be done 
so, areas for improvement are appropriate, timely and affordable, while new ideas and programmes meet the 
criteria of the Councils “Vision”.

The action plan has been prepared in tabular format and forms appendix A. The areas covered within the action 
plan include the following:

- New facility provision.
- Upgrading and refurbishing existing facility provision.
- Making the most of;

o  existing facility provision.
o Enhancing access.
o The Cycling Parish.

- Strategic and delivery partnerships.
- Possible Community Asset Transfers.
- Programme awareness and availability.

Page 57



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 23 -

8.0 Glossary of terms and definitions 

Active People Survey – The survey provides by far the largest sample size ever established for a sport and 
recreation survey and allows levels of detailed analysis previously unavailable. It identifies how participation 
varies from place to place and between different groups in the population.

The survey also measures; the proportion of the adult population that volunteer in sport on a weekly basis, 
club membership, involvement in organised sport/competition, receipt of tuition or coaching, and overall 
satisfaction with levels of sporting provision in the local community.

The questionnaire was designed to enable analysis of the findings by a broad range of demographic 
information, such as gender, social class, ethnicity, household structure, age and disability.

The Active People Survey also provides the measurement, for the local area estimates of adult participation in 
sport and active recreation.

Central Bedfordshire Council Health & Wellbeing Strategy – The Health & Wellbeing Strategy outlines Central 
Bedfordshire Council’s vision for improving health & wellbeing and reducing health inequalities in Central 
Bedfordshire. The first strategy, approved in 2013 contained nine priorities. This document was refreshed in 
2015

Central Bedfordshire Council Joint Strategic Needs Assessment - The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment is a 
process that identifies the current and future health and wellbeing needs of a local population and leads to 
agreed commissioning priorities that will improve outcomes and reduce health inequalities. Specifically, it is a 
tool to identify groups where needs are not being met and that are experiencing poor outcomes. 

Central Bedfordshire Council Leisure Strategy – Adopted in March 2014 it sought to adopt a holistic approach 
to the provision of sport, leisure and recreational facilities across the Council’s area. It sought to assess current 
facilities and services, estimate future demand and create a strategy that will assist the authority to deliver and 
facilitate good quality, sustainable, demand-led facilities and services. 

The scope of the leisure strategy comprised three facility-based chapters and a fourth chapter marrying 
together the findings, identifying future requirements and the type of physical activities needed to support 
Central Bedfordshire’s residents to pursue a healthy, active, lifestyle. 

Central Bedfordshire Council Playing Pitch Strategy - This document forms chapter 3 of the Leisure Strategy. It 
assessed the location, availability and quality of existing sports pitches and outdoor sports facilities across 
Central Bedfordshire and sought to identify future additional investment areas.

ClubMark - Clubmark is the universally acknowledged cross sport accreditation scheme for community sports 
clubs. It is based on criteria which must be supported by specific evidence. Based on four key areas of club 
development it centres around:

 Activity/playing programmes - this includes, for example, coaching qualifications required, insurance 
and coach to participant ratios

Page 58

http://archive.sportengland.org/research/idoc.ashx?docid=26369fa7-07dc-4474-8d70-7f0c582b991f&version=-1
http://archive.sportengland.org/research/active_people_survey/national_indicator_8.aspx
http://archive.sportengland.org/research/active_people_survey/national_indicator_8.aspx


SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 24 -

 Duty of care and welfare - appropriate risk assessments, health and safety policies, training, compliance 
and child protection policies

 Knowing your club and its community - this ensures that your club is committed to fairness and equity 
in respect of the way they seek to attract and retain members from your local community

 Club management - which covers issues to do with club and committee structures and the general 
running of the organisation

Evidence can be gathered in a variety of formats including hard copy (in a folder), electronically (online) or at 
the club itself (e.g., on noticeboards). Licensed organisation’s are the national governing body of sport or 
county sports partnership.

Some of the National Governing Bodies brand the ClubMark process differently to identify them to their sport 
(see club section above).

County Sports Partnership – There are 45 county sports partnerships (CSPs) covering England. They are 
networks of local agencies committed to working together to increase the number of people taking part in 
sport and physical activity. CSPs deliver Sport England programmes such as sportivate on a local level. 

They are led by a central team of people whose job it is to provide leadership and co-ordination of the network.

The county sports partnership for Bedfordshire are teamBEDS&LUTON. They are a fully hosted organisation 
with offices in Luton and Bedford. 

National Governing Body of Sport – Across England there are many different national governing bodies of sport 
(NGBs) who have responsibility for managing their specific sport. Sport England recognise dozens of  governing 
bodies and support over a hundred sports in a variety of ways to help them deliver programmes that get more 
people playing sport.

Between 2013 and 2017, Sport England are investing a total of almost £500 million into 46 NGBs  who have 
submitted whole sport plans that will create opportunities for more people to play community sport.

All of these governing bodies are experts in their sport and they have developed programmes that address the 
specific problems that are stopping people from playing.  

Sport England also provide investment that supports the development of talented athletes in 43 different 
sports and fund the elite programmes of netball, squash and women's rugby.

Sport England are keen to help all of the NGBs that they recognise to develop and progress as an organisation, 
so they provide expertise and services in a range of areas such as governance, commercial partnerships and 
legal issues. 

National Planning Policy Framework – Published by the government in 2011. The framework acts as a guidance 
for local planning authorities, both in drawing up plans and making decisions about planning applications. 

Sport England - Sport England is a central government agency. It is committed to helping people and 
communities across the country create sporting habits for life.

Page 59



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 25 -

This means investing in organisations and projects that will get more people playing sport and creating 
opportunities for people to excel at their chosen sport. Funding is sourced from central government and the 
National Lottery.

Page 60



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 26 -
Page 61



SPORT AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVLOPMENT PLAN 2018 - 2020

- 27 -
Page 62



28

4

www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

E: info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

T: 01525 631920
Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank



-1-

Appendix A

Sport & Physical Activity Development 
Action Plan

P
age 65



-2-

Development Area Description of work to be 
undertaken

Partners Timeline

New Facility provision Providing entirely new pitches and outdoor sports facilities 
may be the only means of securing additional provision in the 
right location. Items to be considered and actioned as 
appropriate include :

- Identifying needs and understanding demand through 
appropriate consultation and review, supported by 
recognised methodology.

- Identifying new sites for provision in appropriate 
locations.

- Extending existing provision where feasible.
- Disposing of existing facilities to re-invest the capital 

receipt in new provision of at equivalent quality, 
quantity and accessibility.

- Incorporating open space and new facilities into new 
community provision and housing developments.

- Exploring external investment opportunities.
- Taking into consideration the strategic priorities 

identified within the Central Bedfordshire playing 
Pitch Strategy

Central Bedfordshire 
Council

Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council

Relevant National Governing 
Bodies for Sport.

County Sport Partnership.

Developers 

P
age 66



-3-

- Explore opportunities for multi facility venues and 
options to link existing community clubs together 

Upgrading and Refurbishing Facility 
provision

Upgrading and refurbishing existing pitches and outdoor 
sports facilities would help to meet some of the qualitative 
deficiencies identified and help retain participation rates.

Consideration should be given to the follow areas of 
investment :

- Provision of floodlighting where possible for some 
pitches and outdoor sports facilities would extend the 
period in which they could be used. 

- Drainage and improvements to grass pitches enables 
them to accommodate more play, with fewer 
postponed facilities. This eases pressure on existing 
sites and allows for participation retention and 
growth.

- Changing facilities are considered poor or absent (not 
accessed) at some pitch sites in the parish borough 
and improvements would significantly enhance the 
experience of users. 

- Exploring external investment opportunities.
- Taking into consideration the strategic priorities 

identified within the Central Bedfordshire playing 
Pitch Strategy

Central Bedfordshire 
Council

Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council

Local Sports Clubs.

National Governing bodies 
of Sport

County Sports Partnership.

P
age 67



-4-

Enhanced facility access Developing new access to pitches and outdoor sports 
facilities on education sites and securing community use at 
sites where access is only informal at present would 
significantly improve the availability of provision. 

Securing improved access through the development of 
formal agreements serves to safeguard community use of 
school pitches and outdoor sports facilities. 

Consideration should be given to the strategic priorities 
identified within the Central Bedfordshire playing Pitch 
Strategy

Primary school access for grass pitch facilities (mini football?)

County Sports Partnership 
to help build awareness of 
support and guidance 
available through Sport 
England ‘Use our School’ 
tool.

County Sports Partnership 
to explore consultation 
already undertaken in this 
area with the schools in 
Leighton-Linslade.

Re-Instatement of former facilities Consideration should be given to re-instatement of pitches 
and outdoor sports facilities where usage has, for a variety of 
reasons, been discontinued in recent times. This should only 
be considered where it can clearly be demonstrated that 
there are sustainable levels of local demand.

The opportunity to secure external investment to fund/part 
fund such projects should be robustly pursued.

Consideration should be given to the strategic priorities 
identified within the Central Bedfordshire playing Pitch 
Strategy

Central Bedfordshire 
Council

Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council

National Governing Bodies 
of Sport.

The County sports 
Partnership.

P
age 68



-5-

Community Asset Transfer Consideration should be given to the transfer of assets from 
public sector bodies to sports clubs or community groups 
offering a number of opportunities to widen access to 
pitches and outdoor sports facilities and in some cases to 
access funding for improvements that would not be available 
to local authority facility owners. 

There are examples of these situations available in other 
local authority areas within Bedfordshire.

Central Bedfordshire 
Council

Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council

Local Sports Clubs.

National Governing Bodies 
of Sport.

The County Sports 
Partnership. Consideration 
should be given to raising 
awareness of this 
opportunity and the support 
kit/tools available.

Cycle Parish Leighton-Linslade is designated as a ‘Cycle Parish’. There has 
been little or no promotion of this since staffing changes and 
although the network exists it is not well known or used to 
the extend originally planned.

Re-instatement of promotion of the network should be 
considered together with inclusion within any new  housing 
and industrial development areas.

Central Bedfordshire 
Council

Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council

British Cycling. 

P
age 69



-6-

The town council should be encouraged to work with British 
Cycling and the County Sports Partnership to identify and 
implement new programmes that encourage cycling amongst 
the local population.  

Strategic and Delivery Partnerships There are a number of strategic and delivery based national 
organisations with a local presence. Understanding their role 
in the sporting landscape and the resources, help, advice and 
guidance available through these organisation is essential in 
ensuring that the development and investment 
opportunities, both capital and revenue based, are 
maximised for Leighton-Linslade.

This is best achieved through building strong local 
relationships with key people. This will also provide more 
extensive opportunities for the town council to feed back in 
on consultation processes. 

These relationships will also be key to understanding the new 
strategies for sport being consulted on by national 
government and also Sport England. The outcomes will be 
significant for the future development of sport and physical 
activity in Leighton-Linslade.

Central Bedfordshire 
Council

Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council

National Governing Bodies 
of Sport.

The County Sports 
Partnership.

Promoting Local programmes There is a wide range of programmes available for 
participants of all ages and abilities to access. Consideration 
should be given to raising awareness of the opportunities 

Central Bedfordshire 
Council

P
age 70



-7-

available across the Parish through the Town Council’s 
website and social media channel’s.

Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council

The County Sports 
Partnership.

Understanding demand from 
neighbouring areas

National Governing Bodies of sport are reporting increased 
instances of sports club travelling out of their own area to 
access good quality sports facilities. A better understanding 
of these issues and how they may directly affect demand for 
facilities in Leighton-Linslade would help inform decision 
making, particularly given the demographic make up of large 
nearby towns.

Central Bedfordshire 
Council

Leighton-Linslade Town 
Council

National Governing Bodies 
of Sport.

The County Sports 
Partnership.

P
age 71



-8-

Appendix B

Central Bedfordshire Playing Pitch Strategy

P
age 72



-9-

Central Bedfordshire

Central Bedfordshire Council’s ‘Leisure Strategy’ (2013) considers the need for leisure facilities in the area to 2031. It includes a playing pitch 

strategy which applies the new Sport England assessment methodology and concludes the following. 

 Football - The key findings are as follows:
- Football participation is very high in Central Bedfordshire, and in contrast to national trends, participation continues to grow.
- The majority of pitches are provided at single or double pitch sites and the quality varies.
- There is overall spare capacity of adult pitches, but a shortfall of youth and mini-soccer pitches. The shortfalls are most severe in the 

northern part of the district that adjoins Bedford borough.
- More Third Generation (‘3G’) pitches are needed to meet unmet demand for training facilities.
- 40 schools allow the use of their pitches by the community, but much of this use is unsecured.
- Asset transfers of council-owned pitches should be considered where this will result in positive club/football development outcomes.

 Cricket - The key findings are as follows:
- Participation is increasing and most clubs have aspirations to grow further.
- Most community play takes place at public facilities. Most school facilities are poor quality artificial pitches.
- The quality of first team pitches is generally high, but many public facilities are of lower quality. 
- There are sufficient facilities to meet current demand, but some wickets are used to beyond optimum levels (five times per season).
- There are capacity issues in Biggleswade, Blunham, Ampthill and Flitwick that might impact on the adjoining parts of Bedford borough.

 Rugby - The key findings are as follows:
- Participation is relatively strong, with four main clubs.
- Most clubs own their own facilities and all are approaching capacity. Training facilities are particularly poor.

        Hockey - The key findings are as follows:

P
age 73



-10-

- There are two clubs, both of whom have recently expanded.
- There is sufficient access to sand-based synthetic turf pitches at present.

 Bowls - The key findings are as follows:
- All clubs have spare capacity to accommodate additional members.
- The quality of greens is generally good.

 Tennis - The key findings are as follows:
- The stock of courts is well spread across the district, with levels of provision particularly good in the northern part that adjoins Central  

Bedfordshire.
- All clubs have spare capacity to accommodate additional members.
- The quality of courts is generally good, although there are some site-specific quality issues.

P
age 74



-11-

WIDER STRATEGIC INFLUENCES

Introduction

This section examines the influence of national strategic policies and priorities on playing pitch and outdoor sports facilities provision in Central 
Bedfordshire.

Central Government

In March 2012, the Government published the ‘National Planning Policy Framework’ (2012), setting out its economic, environmental and social 

planning policies for England. Taken together, these policies articulate the Government’s vision of sustainable development, which should be 

interpreted and applied locally to meet local aspirations. The policies of greatest relevance to pitch provision and retention are as follows:

 Sustainable development - ‘The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. 
Sustainable development means development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations 
to meet their own needs’.

 Health and well-being - ‘Local planning authorities should work with public health leads and health organisations to understand and take 
account of the health status and needs of the local population, including expected future changes, and any information about relevant 
barriers to improving health and well-being’.

P
age 75



-12-

 Open space, sports and recreational facilities - ‘Access to good quality opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important 
contribution to the health and well-being of communities. The planning system has a role in helping to create an environment where 
activities are made easier and public health can be improved. Planning policies should identify specific needs and quantitative or qualitative 
deficits or surpluses of sports and recreational facilities in the local area. The information gained from this assessment of needs and 
opportunities should be used to set locally derived standards for the provision of sports and recreational facilities’.

‘Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless: An assessment has 
been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or The need for and benefits of 
the development clearly outweigh the loss’.

Sport England

Overall policy

The ‘Sport England Strategy 2012 - 2017’ (2012) sets out national sports policy objectives for the next five years.

 Overall aims - In 2017, five years after the Olympic Games, sport in England will be transformed, so that sport becomes a habit for life for 
more people and a regular choice for the majority. The strategy will:

- See more people taking on and keeping a sporting habit for life.
- Create more opportunities for young people.
- Nurture and develop talent.
- Provide the right facilities in the right places.
- Support local authorities and unlock local funding.
- Ensure real opportunities for communities.

P
age 76



-13-

Sport England is seeking a year-on-year increase in the proportion of people who play sport once a week for at least 30 minutes. In particular it 
hopes to raise the percentage of 14-25 year olds playing sport once a week and reduce the proportion dropping out of sport.

 Anticipated outcomes - The outcomes with the greatest potential impact on playing pitch use and provision will be as follows:

- Every one of the 4,000 secondary schools in England, will be offered a community sport club on its site with a direct link to one or more 
governing body of sport, depending on the local clubs in its area.

- County sports partnerships will be given new resources to create effective links locally between schools and sport in the community.
- All secondary schools who wish to do so will be supported to open up, or keep open, their sports facilities for local community use and at 

least a third of these will receive additional funding to make this happen.
- Building on the early success of Places People Play, a further £100m will be invested in facilities for the most popular sports.

Playing pitch policy

Sport England’s national policies in relation to playing pitches are contained in ‘A Sporting Future for the Playing Fields of England’ (2002). It 
contains a policy of resisting the loss of pitches unless one or more of the following five conditions are met:

 A carefully quantified and documented assessment of current and future needs has demonstrated to the satisfaction of Sport England that 
there is an excess of facility provision in the catchment and that the site has no special significance to the interests of sport.

 The proposed development is ancillary to the principal use of the site as a playing field or outdoor sports facility and does not affect the 
quantity or quality of facilities or adversely affect their use.

 The proposed development affects only land incapable of forming a playing pitch or outdoor sports facility and does not result in:

 The loss, or loss of use of, any facility (including the maintenance of adequate safety margins).

P
age 77



-14-

 A reduction in the size of the playing area of any facility.

 The loss of any other sports/ancillary facilities on site.

The playing field or outdoor sports facility which would be lost as a result of the proposed development would be replaced by facilities of an 
equivalent or better quality, in a suitable location and subject to equivalent or better management arrangements, prior to the commencement of 
the development.

The proposed development is for an indoor or outdoor sports facility, the provision of which would be of sufficient benefit to the development of 
sport to outweigh the detriment caused by the loss of playing field or current outdoor facility.

The Football Association

National Game Strategy

The Football Association’s ‘National Game Strategy 2011- 2015’ (2011) sets out the priorities for the development of football over the period.

Football development objectives - These are as follows:

 Challenges: The strategy identifies the following:

P
age 78



-15-

- Halting the decline in adult male 11-a-side football.
- Providing local and flexible formats of football to suit changing consumer lifestyles.
- Addressing the drop off at ages 14-19.
- Supporting the transition from mini-soccer to youth and youth to adult.
- Widening affiliation and integrating teams from diverse communities.
- Affiliating and developing football in the commercial small-sided sector.
- Working effectively with changing school sport.

 Priorities - The priorities for 2015 are as follows:
- Focus resources on retaining and developing the existing affiliated teams.
- Halt the decline in adult male 11-a-side and retain female 11-a-side teams by improving the access and quality of pitches, providing a 

referee for every game, supporting volunteers, using technology and increasing participation through FA ‘Just Play’ Centres and the ‘Get 
into Football’ programmes.

- Develop the FA’s children and young people offer to sustain participation and address drop-out at key phases mini-soccer to youth, 14-
16 and 16-19.

- Continue to support existing and diverse communities to participate in affiliated football.
- Develop different affiliation and benefits packages for groups not traditionally affiliated.
- Embed flexible formats of football such as 60 minute matches, shorter competition programmes and turn-up-and-play and develop 

playing opportunities to meet changing player lifestyles.

National Facilities Strategy

The FA National Facilities Strategy 2013 - 2015 - The National facilities Strategy sets out the FA’s long-term vision for facilities to support the 
development of the ‘National Game’ (all non-professional football). The priorities for 2013 to 2015 are as follows:

 Natural grass pitch improvements and maintenance - Grants will be made to support the development of new and improved natural grass 
pitches. There are an estimated 33,500 such pitches in England which carry the vast majority of grassroots football. Additional support will 

P
age 79



-16-

be made available to clubs wishing to develop their own skills in the future maintenance of natural grass, through relevant training and 
advice. 

 Development of new Artificial Grass Pitches - There are currently 491 full-size Artificial Grass Pitches in England. The latest Artificial Grass 
Pitches are capable of delivering a high quality football experience and in addition are capable of carrying much greater activity than 
natural grass. An increasing number of leagues are allowing games to be played on these surfaces and many grassroots clubs compete to 
access them for training purposes. The FA estimates that a typical full-sized floodlit AGP can accommodate the training needs of up to 60 
teams in any given week let alone wider use for matches and informal participation. Recent consultation with clubs and leagues has further 
reinforced to the FA that investment in these facilities is a priority. AGPs are also the preferred facility type for grassroots pan-disability 
football. The FA will continue to work with Leagues and Competitions to encourage appropriate use of AGPs.

 Refurbishment of old Artificial Grass Pitches - There are over 1,500 existing sand-based or water-based artificial pitches in England some 
of which are at the end of their useful lives. The FA will work closely with other relevant National Governing Bodies and map out priority 
sites where existing old-style pitches might be replaced to reflect local need / demand. This will offer a value for money approach to 
sustaining and growing participation and at the same time create a financially sustainable network of AGP sites in England.

 Provision of suitable changing accommodation and toilet facilities - The FA will seek to ensure that suitable proposals for improvements to 
changing rooms and associated facilities are properly assessed against need and value for money and that standards are put in place that 
are consistent with the needs of clubs at all levels. New construction methods will be assessed and implemented where these meet with 
local needs and are cost effective.

 Small Grants Programme for modest facility improvements - Since the opening of the Football Foundation’s ‘Build the Game’ programme, 
The FA has recognised the popularity of this programme with a steady increase in volume of applications. This programme will continue 
and will aim to address the often very basic facility requirements of clubs. The FA and Football Foundation will set down some broad 
guidelines for access to this funding although the intention will be to minimise red-tape and keep access as open as possible.

P
age 80



-17-

New/replacement goalposts - In support of the implementation of 9v9 football and other flexible formats of the game, a dedicated fund for 
new/replacement goalposts will be established through the Football Foundation. The FA will also ensure that awareness regarding goalpost safety 
is refreshed and publicised. Funding to replace unsafe goalposts will continue. 

The England and Wales Cricket Board

National Facilities Strategy

The ECB’s ‘National Club Strategy’ (2012) sets out the priorities for developing cricket at club level over the next few years.

 Current issues - These have been identified as follows:
- Many clubs are unable to make long-term plans for a sustainable future.
- It is difficult to recruit and retain adult players, members and volunteers.
- Growth is compromised by poor access, to and the quality of, club facilities.
- Many clubs have poor security of tenure.
- Club income streams are typically static or falling.
- Volunteer’s time is used ineffectively due to excessive bureaucracy.
- The time and cost of travelling to and from fixtures is increasing.
- The effects of climate change have impacted on pitch maintenance.

 Strategic priorities - The key priority is to create sustainable clubs by encouraging clubs to create a culture that embraces change, advocates 
best practice and understands that people are the most important asset of a cricket club. To support this, the ECB will:

- Support, develop and reward the skills required to grow and sustain participation. Provide easy access to high-quality training and 
support. Ensure that people are at the heart of maintaining the spirit of cricket and providing a fun, open, fair and accessible game.

- Develop accessible, high quality and innovative facilities, which inspire the nation to choose cricket. Create a culture of sustainable 
development that will leave a legacy for generations to come.

- Develop appropriate, innovative competitions. Improve the experience for existing players in order to help recruit new and lapsed 
players, as well as to help retain players between the critical ages of 16 - 22 and 25 - 35 years of age.

P
age 81



-18-

Bedfordshire Cricket’s Delivery Action Plan

Bedfordshire Cricket’s ‘Delivery Action Plan’ (2014) contains the following facilities actions:

 Have in place an effective, efficient and economic Grounds Association.
 Identify and develop new grounds across Bedfordshire.
 Ensure that clubs have the information, advice and support to improve and develop grounds and facilities.

 Ensure that clubs understand what is available and how to access funding for facilities and ground improvements.

 Ensure that a well-maintained grounds trailer and hire process is available to all clubs through the Grounds Association. Support and assist 
clubs in securing external funding to improve and enhance facilities and grounds.

The Rugby Football Union

National Facilities Strategy

The RFUs ‘National Facilities Strategy for Rugby Union in England 2013 - 2017’ (2013) provides a framework for facility provision.
 Current issues - A clubs survey - identified a number of areas of required facility development. These include:

- Over half of the clubs responding considered that their training facilities are not fit for purpose. Floodlighting was highlighted as a 
particular issue. Two-thirds of clubs stated that it is either ‘very important’ or ‘important’ for them to upgrade their floodlighting over 
the next four years.

- 68% of respondents stated that they considered their playing pitches to be fit for purpose. However, over 57 per cent of respondent 
clubs stated that additional or improved grass pitches are either very important or important for them to develop over the next four 
years.

- Almost a third of respondent clubs considered that their changing facilities are not fit for purpose. New or improved changing facilities 
were stated to be the highest priority for improving the efficiency and effectiveness of clubs (50% of respondents), while 61% stated 
that it is either very important or important for them to address the state of their changing facilities over the next four years.

P
age 82



-19-

 Facility priorities - These are as follows:
- Increase the provision of integrated changing facilities that are child friendly and can sustain concurrent male and female activity at the 

club.
- Improve the quality and quantity of natural turf pitches.
- Increase the number of Artificial Turf Pitches.
- Improve social, community and catering facilities, which can support diversification and the generation of additional revenues.
- Invest in facility upgrades which result in an increase in energy-efficiency, in order to reduce the running costs of clubs.

Local facilities priorities
In addition to the national facilities strategy, the RFU has assessed the facilities needs of all local clubs, which identified the following:

 Leighton Buzzard RFC       

England Hockey

England Hockey’s facilities strategy is set out in ‘The Right Pitches in the Right Places’ (2011).

 Participation targets - England Hockey wishes to attract and retain more people into the sport, in particular by retaining club members, 
and increasing new membership by 10,000 adults and 32,500 children.

 Facility provision - There are approximately 1,000 sand-filled or dressed and 50 water based pitches in England. Most have been installed 
in the past 10-15 years. Many of the sand-filled or sand-dressed pitches involve provision in partnership with schools or local authorities. 
A considerable number of these pitches are used for multi-sport activity and in most cases hockey is not the dominant user.

P
age 83



-20-

 As of 2011 affiliated hockey clubs are utilising around two thirds of the sand and water artificial turf pitches in England. The clubs are 
collectively using around 7,000 hours between September and April and reduced hours during the summer months. Outside of this club 
use, sits the Single System of coaching and development which uses 2,000 hours annually. 32% of pitches are over 10 yrs old, 12% 15 yrs 
old and 4% over 20 years old. 

 England Hockey will be looking into pitch resurfacing cycles, to identify age of pitches and to guide facility providers as to when they need 
to start to think about replacing their surface. 400 sand filled pitches are over 15 years old and alongside developing new facilities, it will 
be a priority to ensure that existing facilities receive appropriate maintenance.

Bowls Development Alliance 

The Bowls Development Alliance (BDA) receives funding from Sport England to promote bowls via a package of initiatives delivered by the 
network of affiliated clubs. To support this, the Bedfordshire Bowls Association has the following local priorities for the development of the 
game:

 To support affiliated clubs in maintaining their present facilities. Many of our clubs have very small membership numbers and are reliant 
on the resources provided by the local authority. This is particularly true within the urban area of Bedford.

 To support affiliated clubs by providing them with loans in order that they are able to maintain and renew the vital equipment needed to 
maintain machinery necessary for providing a good bowling green.

 To support affiliated Clubs in their quest to encourage new members from juniors to advanced age. Over 55's are currently being 
targeted to take up the sport at present. 

 Through the ‘Play Bowls’ initiative, to encourage clubs to use the development packages and funding provided by the BDA to enhance 
their playing memberships.

 Through the Coaching initiatives provided by the BDA to encourage Club level coaching.

P
age 84



-21-

Lawn Tennis Association

Participation Strategy
The LTA’s strategy is called ‘British Tennis Participation Strategy 2013 -2017’ (2013) and has a mission to get more people playing more tennis. 
Specific targets by 2017 are to get 500,000 adults playing at least weekly and one million adult playing at least monthly, along with one million 
more school children introduced to tennis. The key drivers are:

 Attractive and inviting parks tennis courts.

 Viable tennis clubs.

 Children must have the opportunity to experience tennis.

 A higher proportion of women and girls playing tennis.

 More teenagers staying with tennis.

 Tennis is an accessible sport for all.

 Broadening the base.

 At least 60,000 young people competing annually.

 Tennis is a year round sport for more people.

P
age 85



-22-

Facilities Strategy
The LTA’s facilities strategy is called ‘Places to Play’ (2010) and covers the period 2011 to 2015. The strategy aims to provide high quality 
facilities for everyone at a convenient location, by increasing opportunities for people to play tennis on a regular basis at tennis clubs close to 
their home on safe and well maintained tennis courts.

 Development objectives - The key strategic objectives as follows:

- Access for everyone to well-maintained high quality tennis facilities which are either free or ‘pay-as-you-play’. 
- A Clubmark accredited place to play within a 10 minute drive of the whole population. Indoor tennis courts within a 20 minute drive time of 

the whole population.
- A mini tennis (10 and under) performance programme within a 20 minute drive of the whole population. (Performance Centres). 
- A performance programme for 11 - 15 year olds within a 45 minute drive time of the whole population (High Performance Centre). 

 Facilities objectives - The facilities objectives as follows:

-     Improving facilities at high quality places to play - Enhancing facility provision at        performance venues and Clubmark accredited places to 
play. 

- Tennis in community settings - Beacon sites - supporting LA’s to bring back into use existing community tennis facilities and working with 
them to develop affordable quality tennis programmes. 
Sustainability - Advising places to play to ring fence funding to ensure existing facilities   can be upgraded or replaced when they get to the 
end of their life. 

P
age 86



-23-

Summary of wider strategic influences

Central Government planning policy is supportive of undertaking local assessments of need and the protection of playing fields and outdoor 
sports facilities, which provides helpful context for local planning policies in Central Bedfordshire.

Sport England’s target to increase participation rates year-on-year will drive up demand for pitches and outdoor sports facilities if it is achieved. 
The emphasis on developing and funding school-community club links will increase the scope for improving the dual use of education pitches 
and facilities.

All the governing bodies of sport have similar facilities objectives, to improve the quality of pitches/facilities and changing provision and many 
are introducing new, more accessible formats of their sports some of which, such as ‘Last Man Stands’ in cricket, have additional and specific 
pitch requirements.

The LTA has identified 30 Priority Areas nationally and Leighton Buzzard is not one of the highest priority ‘Tier One’ targets. This means that the 
LTA will not target resources to increase participation in the game in the Parish.

P
age 87



-24-

Appendix C

Sport & Physical Activity Development Plan 2014

Strategic Priorities

P
age 88



-25-

Strategic Priorities - Football

The assessment of pitches for football indicates that the key issues to address for football across local area follows;

• Football participation is very high across Central Bedfordshire and in particular Leighton Buzzard and surrounds in contrast to national 
trends, participation continues to grow.

• The majority of the existing pitch stock is formed from single/double pitch sites (the Central Bedfordshire average is 2 pitches) Pages and 
Astral Parks are larger multi-pitch sites with a mix of sizes and competition formats. The quality of pitches is varying and key issues arising 
include drainage, changing and evenness of pitches

• Club satisfaction is generally low and the majority of clubs attribute their dissatisfaction to the amount of pitches provided and there are 
also concerns about facilities and quality of pitches. 

• While overall there are enough adult pitches, surpluses in this type of pitch are offset by shortfalls of junior and mini pitches. There are 
particularly capacity issues and unmet demand in some settlements, while in others; the amount of pitches is more than sufficient to 
accommodate demand. A lot of the high demand is associated with the large clubs. The recent FA Youth Review, requiring 9 v 9 pitches 
as well as facilities of other sizes will further impact upon the demand for facilities 

• Increasing number of schools allows use of their facilities by the local community – these play an essential role in ensuring that all clubs 
are able to play. Cedars in particular has opened its doors to community use of its grass as well as 3G pitches.

• Increases in the population will have major implications on the demand for pitches and the adequacy of the pitch stock and will generate 
further shortfalls in some areas. Growth of the Parish to the East with the expected population increases will only add pressure to this.

• 43% of clubs indicate that they struggle to access training facilities and a shortage of AGP’s was highlighted as a key barrier to club 
development. Based upon the exiting high participation levels, modelling reveals demand for several additional facilities 

The strategic priorities to respond to these issues and the area/site specific implications are set out in Table 3.1

P
age 89



-26-

Table 3.1 Football – Strategic Priorities – Area Specific Requirements 

Aim Leighton Buzzard and surrounds

Protect all current playing fields to ensure the longevity of the pitch stock. This should include former playing 
pitches, unless they are located in an area identified as having sufficient provision to meet current and future 
demand.

In the short term, review the designation of pitches to address deficiencies in junior football and to 
accommodate the recent FA Review of Youth Football. Ensure that as far as possible, all teams are playing on 
pitches of the correct size.

Ensure that there 
are enough pitches 
to meet demand

Increase the amount of pitches available and support clubs to find home venues to ensure that they are not 
dispersed across multiple sites. This is likely to include;

o Securing of formal agreements for the use of school sites – ideally sites offering multiple pitches should 
be prioritised and consideration should be given to the provision of accessible changing/toilets for 
community teams

o Re-instating former playing pitches
o New pitches (promote the creation of new multi pitch sites to support large clubs). This will free up 

other sites for the use of smaller clubs and single teams
o The creation of new pitches linked with new developments, to offset the impact of the increase in 

population on the demand for playing pitch provision. There are particular pressures in areas of growth 
and new facilities will be required where there is evidence of need. Improvements to the quality of existing 
facilities should be required where there is already sufficient provision 

P
age 90



-27-

Ensure pitch quality 
meets requirements

Ensure that all clubs have access to facilities of the appropriate specification by focusing on the improvement of 
both pitch quality and ancillary facilities. Qualitative improvements should be prioritised over quantity where 
there are already enough facilities. 

The following standards should be considered;

Investment to address basic quality issues at key sites to ensure NGB specifications and standards are met;

o the provision of changing accommodation at all sites where adult football is played and a 
minimum of toilet provision at junior and mini football sites

o supporting clubs in the creation of facilities of higher specification where these are required for 
clubs progression in Leighton Buzzard

Support Club 
Development

Maintain the existing football forums to establish clear routes of communication with pitch users and providers 
ensuring that all decision are taken with a full understanding of needs and aspiration.

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place including evaluation of success of football 
forum

o Support the principles of asset transfer where this will result in positive club and football development 
outcomes

P
age 91



-28-

Strategic Priorities – Cricket

The assessment of cricket provision across Leighton Buzzard and surrounds indicates that the key issues to address are as follows;

• Participation is increasing and almost all clubs have aspirations to grow further

• Most community play takes place at public facilities. Facilities at school sites are largely artificial and in general are poor quality and 
insufficient for community use.

• The quality of first team cricket facilities is high and the condition of the outfield and issues with drainage are perhaps the main concerns 
and several clubs also raise concerns with the quality of their pavilion. There are much lower levels of satisfaction with the overall stock 
of facilities however, with 50% of clubs suggesting that facilities inhibit club development and 40% of clubs suggesting that they are not 
happy with the stock of facilities. The quality of pitches for 3rd and 4th teams, as well as access to sufficient pitches, are the main reasons 
attributed to this.

• Although there are enough pitches overall to meet current peak time demand, this disguises site specific pressures and almost all club 
bases are at capacity on both Saturday and Sunday afternoon. Most clubs with capacity are not located in close proximity to those clubs 
requiring additional pitches. Added to this, several clubs are using wickets above optimum levels (5 times per season) and for many, 
there are no artificial wickets or training nets, meaning that practice must take place upon grass square or off site.

• Population growth will generate increasing demand and unmet demand may rise substantially

The strategic priorities to respond to these issues and the area/site specific implications are set out in Table 3.2

P
age 92



-29-

Table 3.2 Cricket – Strategic Priorities – Area Specific Requirements 

Aim Leighton Buzzard and Surrounds

Reflecting the pressures on existing club bases across all Central Bedfordshire, protect all existing cricket grounds 
through the inclusion of appropriate planning policy.

o Appropriate planning policy to be incorporated into emerging development strategy and other relevant 
documents.

Ensure that 
there are 
enough 
pitches to 
meet demand

Ensure the amount of cricket facilities available does not impact on the opportunities to grow participation in the 
sport. Many clubs are at or nearing capacity and there is a need to provide access to additional appropriate facilities. 
This should be sought by;

• the ongoing development of relationships between larger and smaller clubs. This has already proved 
successful in Central Bedfordshire, with many larger clubs using facilities owned/controlled by smaller clubs;

• the provision of a new satellite ground for clubs at capacity where this represents a sustainable option for 
growth. This may be either through a new provision or the re-instatement of sites that have formerly been 
used for cricket;

• the development of school club links and the establishment of a relationship between schools and cricket 
clubs. Facilities at school sites can then be used by the cricket club as the club expands. Note improvements to 
the quality of facilities are likely to also be required if this is be successful; and

• ensuring the impact of the increasing population is taken into account when identifying facility requirements – 
there are particular pressures in areas of growth and new facilities will be required where there is evidence of 

P
age 93



-30-

need. Improvements to the quality of existing facilities should be required where there is already sufficient 
provision

Any new facilities should be provided in conjunction with an existing club or in support of a new club that has 
appropriate leadership and structures in place.

Leighton Buzzard CC at capacity but use overspill ground (Pages park). 
o Facility at this site requires improvement. No use of second facility currently, but may be required longer term

Address quality issues raised and ensure both cricket grounds and pavilions are up to appropriate standards.
This should include overspill facilities as well as first team grounds

Key areas for improvement relate to;

o grounds maintenance skills
o changing pavilions
o surface
o drainage

Leighton Buzzard: Page Park/Mentmore Park

Ensure pitch 
quality meets 
requirements

To ensure that pitches can accommodate the level of play that they are required to currently, as well as to support 
cricket clubs in the development of training nets to enhance club sustainability and improve overall performance as 
well as to remove pressure on grass wickets.
This may include;

o an indoor cricket venue
o the provision of outdoor cricket nets at larger clubs that do not currently have access to such facilities 

Support Club 
Development

Support long term sustainability of clubs by promoting succession planning, for example in groundsmanship. 
Providers and clubs should be supported in gaining key skills.

P
age 94



-31-

o Initiatives to be developed to achieve these objectives

Support initiatives to increase cricket participation including the introduction of new forms of the game, which may 
require the provision of flexible spaces.

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be added where 
necessary 

P
age 95



-32-

Strategic Priorities – Rugby

The assessment of rugby provision across Leighton Buzzard and surrounds indicates that the key issues to address are as follows;

o Participation in rugby is relatively strong across Central Bedfordshire and there are four clubs, all of which offer full transition between 
midi,  junior and senior rugby,  offering clear player pathways Leighton Buzzard RUFC included.

o The majority of pitches in Central Bedfordshire are at school sites and there is limited if any use of these by the clubs currently. Club sites 
are important for the growth and development of rugby clubs and all clubs are approaching capacity. Training facilities are poor.  Added 
to this, there are some quality issues that need to be addressed

o Population growth is likely to generate an increase in participation and some clubs have aspirations to increase their membership, in all 
likelihood generating further pressures on the existing facility stock. Pitch capacity at club bases will become particularly strained by 2022 
if club development aspirations are realised. In this instance, access to school pitches and/or the creation of new pitches at club bases or 
as a satellite pitch may become increasingly important. The identified East of Leighton Buzzard Urban extension will have implication for 
the Rugby Club given its location.

The strategic priorities to respond to these issues and the area/site specific implications are set out in Table 3.3

Table 3.3 Rugby – Strategic Priorities – Area Specific Requirements 

Aim Leighton Buzzard and Surrounds 

Ensure that there 
are enough pitches 
to meet demand

Monitor club growth over strategy period. Additional facilities will be required for clubs if participation increases 
significantly over and above levels that are generated by growth in population. Notably, the impact of training 
on pitches is significant and this could be addressed through the provision of a 3G training pitch which would 
reduce the impact of use on grass pitches. Any new provision should be in conjunction with existing or new 
clubs rather than provided ad hoc on new sites.

P
age 96



-33-

o Amount of pitches currently sufficient.
o Population growth an increase in participation may generate requirement for new pitch longer term.

To be delivered either through;
o New pitch at club base or satellite facility
o Conversion of grass pitch to AGP to increase capacity
o Use of school facility by club (may require qualitative improvements)

Cedars Upper School
Vandyke School

Monitor demand for rugby league provision over the strategy period

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be added 
where necessary

Ensure pitch quality 
meets requirements

To ensure that pitches can accommodate the level of play that they are required to currently, as well as to meet 
the needs of additional teams in future years, maintain and improve the quality of existing facilities by;

o addressing maintenance issues identified through RFU ground surveys;
o improving and expanding social facilities and pavilions
o the provision of training floodlights – these should be located to enable rotation and use of different 

parts of the pitches to ensure that additional wear and tear is dispersed

Leighton Buzzard RUFC – require additional training floodlights.

Quality improvements should be prioritised over additional capacity in the short term

P
age 97



-34-

Support Club 
Development

Support aspirations to increase participation in rugby l and manage the impact of these aspirations on facility 
development

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be 
added where necessary 

Support initiatives to increase rugby participation including the introduction of new forms of the game, which 
may require the provision of flexible spaces

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be 
added where necessary P

age 98



-35-

Strategic Priorities – Hockey

The assessment of hockey across Leighton Buzzard and surrounds indicates that the key issues to address are as follows;

• There is one hockey club in Leighton and surrounds ,Leighton Buzzard HC . Analysis of participation trends demonstrate evidence 
of significant recent expansion. Despite this, the current and potential playing profile of the area is relatively limited, with hockey 
likely to attract less than 1% of local and wider circle residents, even when taking into account latent demand

• The hockey club are dissatisfied with the current levels of provision in Central Bedfordshire generally. There are concerns about 
both access to changing and social facilities, not having a dedicated on site clubhouse, as well as issues with access to facilities for 
training and matches. Continued challenges of competing demands with football

• Analysis of use of the facilities at a peak time confirms that there are enough pitches overall to accommodate demand within 
Club, however, this is skewed by the presence of the pitch at Dunstable Leisure Centre, which is not currently used at all for 
hockey although it has a sand based surface. It is not located appropriately to function as an overspill facility for LBHC or the 
other club in Central Bedfordshire (Sandy). While overall there are sufficient pitches, both clubs are at/nearing capacity at their 
club bases, meaning that access to overspill facilities is essential if levels of activity are to be maintained.

• While population growth alone will have limited impact, schemes designed to increase participation in hockey may generate 
demand for further facilities in the longer term. These include Back to Hockey and Rush Hockey, both of which are currently being 
trialled at Flitwick Leisure Centre

The strategic priorities to respond to these issues and the area/site specific implications are set out in Table 3.4

P
age 99



-36-

Table 3.4 Hockey – Strategic Priorities – Area Specific Requirements 

Aim Leighton Buzzard and Surrounds 

To support hockey development, ensure that the surfaces currently used for hockey are retained as sand based 
pitches

Vandyke School should remain sand based surface 

Ensure that there 
are enough pitches 
to meet demand

Monitor club activity and support the provision of additional sand based facilities (linked with the clubs) if 
significant participation increases occur and/or if issues are identified with pitches used outside of Central 
Bedfordshire

o New provision likely to be required within reasonable distance of club base to support existing club 
structures

Ensure priority access for hockey clubs at sand based facilities

Vandyke School

Ensure that the impact of housing growth is taken into account and that contributions towards hockey are 
required

o The hockey club will both be impacted upon by population growth and will serve residents across 
Central Bedfordshire

P
age 100



-37-

Ensure pitch quality 
meets requirements

Support aspirations for the provision of onsite club houses and changing accommodation to facilitate club 
development. Here may be opportunities to share this with other sports as part of the process of securing formal 
use of school sites to address quantitative deficiencies

Pavilion/clubhouse at Vandyke School

Maintain the quality of existing sand based AGPs, ensuring that facilities are refurbished every 10 years.

Vandyke School

Support Club 
Development

Support the introduction of new forms of hockey through the provision of appropriate facilities for the new 
form of the game

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be added 
where necessary 

P
age 101



-38-

Strategic Priorities – Bowls

The assessment of bowls across Leighton Buzzard and surrounds indicates that the key issues to address are as follows;

o Analysis of the capacity of existing bowling greens suggests that clubs are able to accommodate additional members, and there is scope 
to accommodate more teams on most greens. Adding to this, there is no evidence of growth in bowls with clubs indicating that 
participation is static despite efforts to attract new players

o Almost all clubs are satisfied with the quality of existing greens and this was also reinforced through site visits, which reveal that facilities 
are well maintained and all greens are in good condition. Just three clubs identify site specific issues requiring improvement and only two 
clubs are not happy with the overall stock of facilities (attributing this to the number of greens of the right quality)  

o The average membership age of bowls clubs across Central Bedfordshire is 69, representing a rate of 2.3% of residents over the age of 
60, In contrast to pitch sports, the ageing population may see bowls become more popular in future years. This growth alone could 
generate additional 435 bowls players, meaning that clubs would have on average 92members and supply would be much more closely 
matched with demand. Sport England Active people surveys, however, suggest that current demand is higher and also highlight potential 
to increase participation, potentially up to 4%. If these targets were to be achieved, added to the anticipated impact of participation  
increases, the current stock of bowling greens would become insufficient

o The changing population profile and the propensity of the older age groups to play bowls mean that there is a significant opportunity to 
promote the sport. While overall provision is currently sufficient, regardless of current capacity, it should be noted that residents expect 
these facilities to be local to their home (on average, 55% of members are within 1 mile of their club) and many residents are outside of 
this distance to a current facility 

The key strategic priorities and area specific implications for bowls are set out in Table 3.5

P
age 102



-39-

Table 3.5 Bowls – Strategic Priorities – Area Specific Requirements 

Aim Leighton Buzzard and Surrounds 

Protect all current bowling greens

New bowling greens are not required to meet current (or future) demand unless expressed demand is identified in 
an area further than 1 mile from an existing bowling green. New provision should be demand rather than supply led 
and facilities should only be developed where demand has already been identified. Instead, improvements to 
existing bowling greens should be prioritised 

o New participants and residents of new development should be channelled towards existing bowling clubs 
until it becomes clear that an existing facility is over capacity and/or there is significant expressed demand 
for a new facility in an area currently outside of the catchment of a facility

Ensure that 
there are 
enough pitches 
to meet 
demand

Monitor the impact of attempts to increase participation as well as population growth on club membership

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be added where 
necessary

Ensure pitch 
quality meets 
requirements

Seek to maintain the quality of facilities and where issues are identified, improve the quality and consistency of 
bowling greens

Leighton Buzzard Bowls Club

P
age 103



-40-

Support Club 
Development

Support clubs to proactively increase participation and membership. To maximise the sustainability of bowls as a 
sport, efforts should focus on recruitment of junior players as well as adult and veterans 

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be added where 
necessary

P
age 104



-41-

Strategic Priorities – Tennis 

The assessment of tennis across Leighton Buzzard and surrounds indicates that the key issues to address for tennis are;

• Generally the stock of tennis courts is well spread out across Central Bedfordshire, with more than half of all courts in the major service 
centres. Most residents in larger settlements have access to at least one tennis court within a five mile radius. 

• Tennis offers a significant opportunity to increase overall participation in sport and physical activity in Central Bedfordshire – the sport 
has a wider participation base and there are high levels of latent demand

• There are sufficient courts at the two clubs to meet the needs of current membership and only three clubs across Central Bedfordshire 
are approaching capacity. While club membership does not account for casual play, the current club membership figures suggest that 
the Active People survey perhaps overestimates demand slightly and provides an indication of the upper echelons of potential demand

• Population growth alone could be accommodated within existing club structures (where there is a capacity for up to 1000 more 
members) although some clubs are approaching capacity and may require additional courts if growth is focused in their area. Significant 
participation increases would however require more wholesale increases in provision. 

• There are concerns about the quality of courts (particularly at public facilities), but also at several club sites and the overall quality is the 
most varying of all types of outdoor sport. Several clubs believe that the quality issues at both club and public facilities will inhibit the 
overall development of tennis in both the short and long term

The strategic priorities to respond to these issues and the area/site specific implications are set out in Table 3.6

P
age 105



-42-

Table 3.6 Tennis – Strategic Priorities – Area Specific Requirements 

Aim Leighton Buzzard and Surrounds 

Support the provision of new facilities at clubs where specific need can be identified, taking into account the 
capacity and quality of existing facilities. In the first instance, additional capacity should be created by adding 
floodlights to courts. Longer term and following population growth, new courts may be required at some clubs

Ensure that 
there are 
enough pitches 
to meet 
demand

Where there is expressed demand for tennis in areas not currently within a 5 mile catchment, to maximise the use 
of resources, support additional demand for tennis through a partnership approach with schools where this is 
possible. Demand for pay and play tennis should be considered in line with the Beacon Tennis Scheme, established 
by the LTA. Existing tennis courts in large public settlements should also be retained, unless appropriate pay and 
play opportunities can be organised through club bases or schools.

Ensure pitch 
quality meets 
requirements

Address quality issues identified at club sites prioritising area where club development is limited by quality 
constraints, specifically;

o Floodlighting (linked with increasing capacity above)
o Covering existing courts (linked with increasing capacity above) or relocation of courts if covering is not 

possible.
o Surfacing 

Support Club 
Development

Support the development of new forms of tennis in order to increase participation. This might include mini tennis, 
which provides the use of more flexible spaces

P
age 106



-43-

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be added where 
necessary

P
age 107



-44-

Strategic Priorities – Athletics

The assessment identifies the key issues for athletics as;

• There is only one athletics track in Central Bedfordshire at Sandy Sports and Community Centre

• There are four athletics clubs in Central Bedfordshire. While Biggleswade Athletics Club is based at Sandy Sports Centre, the remainder 
are road running and cross country clubs. There is no formal athletics facility in Leighton Buzzard

• Sport England’s Active Places data suggests that the amount of facilities in Central Bedfordshire is poor compared with the average. 
Supporting this, analysis indicates that with the existence of only one track in the district and despite other tracks nearby, accessibility for 
local residents is poor. With over a third living outside a 20 minute driving catchment

• Accessibility is skewed to the east, with parts of Central Bedfordshire in he west outside of the catchment to a track. Accessibility is best 
in Sandy but in general, residents in the north place-making area are closer to athletics facilities than in the south. Poorest accessibility is 
in Leighton Buzzard and the Rural South

• Despite these deficiencies, current activity levels so not provide clear evidence of a requirement for a new athletics facility in Central 
Bedfordshire (as most activity is in the form of road running)

There is however, clear evidence of demand for a new facility in Leighton Buzzard, an area which has previously had a track and the area of 
Central Bedfordshire that is least well served for facilities. Leighton Buzzard Athletic Club indicate there is a clear need for facilities in the area 
and that club development is inhibited without the creation of a track. Recognising that the creation of a track is a longer term project, the club 
also highlight an immediate priority of the provision of a clubhouse, floodlit outdoor training area and storage facility.

The area specific priorities are set out in Table 3.7

P
age 108



-45-

Table 3.7 Athletics – Strategic Priorities – Area Specific Requirements 

Aim Leighton Buzzard and Surrounds 

Support ongoing athletics participation through the protection of only existing athletics track (Sandy)

Ensure that appropriate changing and meeting facilities are available for road running clubs

Ensure that there 
are enough pitches 
to meet demand

o Support sustainable solutions to provide new facilities for athletics in Leighton Buzzard

Sustainable athletics facility

Ensure pitch quality 
meets requirements

Ensure that appropriate changing and meeting facilities are available for road running clubs

Tiddenfoot Leisure Centre (or alternative venue)

Support Club 
Development

Support clubs to proactively increase participation and membership to maximise the sustainability of the sport

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be added 
where necessary

P
age 109



-46-

Strategic Priorities – Netball

The assessment identifies the key issues for netball as;

• There is a strong network of participation in netball across all of Central Bedfordshire and  linked with other local authorities in 
Bedfordshire. There are several affiliated and accredited clubs in the area offering strong development pathways. National increases in 
participation in netball are mirrored locally and participation remains strong

• England Netball indicate that much of the lower levels of participation are focused in the urban areas. However, all areas of Central 
Bedfordshire are equitably served by local leagues

• Bedfordshire Netball indicates that the network of facilities is currently adequate for local leagues, although there are some issues with 
access to appropriate training facilities for clubs. The nature of netball and the leagues that are run mean that competition generally 
takes place at central venues and some degree of travel is expected. Growth in participation may place further demand upon existing 
facilities, which are spread across Bedfordshire

The strategic priorities to address the key issues identified are set out in Table 3.8

Table 3.8 Netball – Strategic Priorities – Area Specific Requirements 

Aim Leighton Buzzard and Surrounds 

Ensure that there are sufficient appropriate venues for club based netball training

o No priorities at current time.

Ensure that there 
are enough pitches 
to meet demand

Facilitate the requirement for any competitive netball venues longer term in the event of significant 
participation increases and the creation of new leagues

P
age 110



-47-

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be added 
where necessary

Ensure pitch quality 
meets requirements

Maintain the quality of the existing facilities and improve the standard of those courts that are not sufficient to 
sustain appropriate levels of play

n/a

Support Club 
Development

Support clubs to proactively increase participation and membership to maximise the sustainability of the sport

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be added 
where necessary

 
Support initiatives designed to increase player retention and participation

o Ongoing monitoring and review of strategy to take place and additional requirements to be added 
where necessary

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 113

Agenda Item 12
Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 1960



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 115

Agenda Item 13
Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 1960



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 117

Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act 1960



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	5 ASTRAL PARK
	6 COMMITTEE OBJECTIVES AND WORKPLAN
	6 (b) Draft Grounds & Env Services Work Plan 2018-2019

	7 BUDGET
	Nine month budget monitoring report G&E

	8 FLAGPOLE
	10 SPORTS AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY DEVELOPMENT PLAN
	10. Sports & Activity Development Plan 2018-2020
	10. Sports & Activity Development Plan 2018-2020 Appendix A, B and C

	12 WASTE MANAGEMENT AND RECYCLING
	13 HISTORIC CEMETERY CHARGES
	Purchase in reserve graves available only at Vandyke Road Cemetery


